

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT

Between

BROWN UNIVERSITY

AND

BROWN UNIVERSITY SECURITY PATROLPERSON'S ASSOCIATION

July 1, 2025 - June 30, 2029

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. U	NION ACTIVITIES	4
II.	MANAGEMENT	7
III.	SENIORITY	9
IV.	PROBATIONARY PERIODS	10
V.	EMPLOYEE DEFINITIONS	11
VI.	PROMOTIONS	12
VII.	DEMOTIONS	13
VIII.	TRANSFERS TO OTHER CLASSIFICATIONS	13
IX.	WORKING CONDITIONS	14
X.	HEALTH AND SAFETY	14
XI.	SICK TIME	16
XII.	RETIREMENT	19
XIII.	VACATIONS	20
XIV.	HOLIDAYS	22
XV.	WINTER BREAK	23
XVI.	OTHER EXCUSED ABSENCES FROM WORK	25
XVII.	HOURS OF WORK	28
XVIII.	WAGE RATES AND CLASSIFICATIONS	35
XIX.	PAY FOR DETAILS	39
XX.	RETIREMENT PLAN	40
XXI.	UNIFORMS AND PERSONAL APPEARANCE	43
XXII.	SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT	44
XXIII.	GRIEVANCES	45
XXIV.	STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	47
XXV.	NEGOTIATIONS	47
XXVI.	. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE	48
XXVI	I. PAID ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE	51
XXVII	II. BULLETIN BOARDS	52
XXIX.	. TUITION	52
XXX.	LEGAL REPRESENTATION	53

XXXI.	EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT	53
XXXII.	CONFORMITY TO LAW	54
XXXIII.	SPECIALIZED ASSIGNMENTS	54
XXXIV.	ENTIRE AGREEMENT CLAUSE	55

THIS JULY 1, 2025 – JUNE 30, 2029 COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made as of the by and between BROWN UNIVERSITY IN PROVIDENCE IN THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND, AND PROVIDENCE PLANTATIONS, herein called the "University", and BROWN UNIVERSITY SECURITY PATROLPERSON'S ASSOCIATION, herein called the "Union".

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, it is the purpose of this Agreement to promote good relations between the University, the Union, and the employees represented by the Union, and to make clear the basic provisions upon which such relations depend; and

WHEREAS, it is the intent of both the University and Union to work together to provide and maintain mutually satisfactory terms and conditions of employment and to prevent as well as adjust misunderstandings or grievances relating to employment; and

WHEREAS, both the University and the Union believe in and accept collective bargaining as a means of carrying out the purpose and intent of this Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and of their mutual assent hereto as the terms and provisions of the contract between them, and the University and the Union agree as follows:

I. UNION ACTIVITIES

1. Recognition of the Union. The University recognizes the Union as the sole collective bargaining agency for all employees of Brown University who are employed by the University as building guards, public safety officers, security officers, campus police officers and communication control officers, including all regular part-time building guards, security officers, public safety officers, campus police officers and communication control officers, exclusive of all other employees, office clerical employees, professional employees, supervisors, sergeants, lieutenants, all Brown University students, and part-time employees who regularly work less than twelve hours per week, for the purpose of all bargaining with respect to wages, hours and working conditions.

2. <u>Union Membership</u>. Employees covered by this Agreement at the time it becomes effective and who are members of the Union at that time shall be required as a condition of continued employment to maintain membership in the Union in good standing for the duration of this Agreement. Employees hired, rehired, reinstated or transferred into the bargaining unit after the effective date of this Agreement and covered by this Agreement shall be required as a condition of continued employment to become and remain members of the Union in good standing at or before the 30th day following the beginning of their employment. The obligation to maintain good standing in the Union is defined as the duty to tender the periodic dues and initiation fees uniformly required as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership in the Union. Provided further that employees who are in fact members of the Union shall be required to tender periodic dues, the initiation fees uniformly required as a condition of acquiring or retaining membership in the Union and payment of any assessments for legal fees for negotiations with the University and for representative services performed by the Union.

The Union will accept as members all present and future employees who are covered by this Agreement on the same terms and conditions generally applicable to other members. Whenever the Union shall charge that any employee covered by this Agreement who has become a member of the Union in good standing has failed to remain a member of the Union in good standing during the term of this Agreement as required by the preceding paragraph or that any employee covered by this Agreement has failed to become and remain a member of the Union in good standing during the term of this Agreement as required by this paragraph and shall request the discharge of such employee, the University and the employee shall be so notified by the Union in writing and the University shall have thirty (30) calendar days following receipt of notice to discharge such employee. If during such 30-day period the employee shall pay or tender his or her initiation fee and/or delinquent dues as the case may be, the University shall not be required to discharge such employee.

The Union shall indemnify and save the University harmless against any and all claims, demands and other forms of liability that may arise out of any action taken by the University in fulfilling the terms of this Section.

In the event the Union fails to notify the University and the member as aforesaid within ninety (90) calendar days of the date when the earliest defaulted dues of such member shall become due and payable, the University shall not be required to dismiss

the defaulting member from employment on the grounds of failure to maintain Union membership.

- 3. <u>Union Dues</u>. Upon receipt of a valid assignment in writing, in a form approved by the University, executed by an employee assigning a portion of his or her wages to the Union for payment of dues, initiation fees and assessments, the University shall cooperate with the Union in the collection of its dues, initiation fees and assessments by recognizing such assignment and by deducting from the wages paid each employee, who makes such assignment, on the University's first regular payday in each calendar week the amount assigned. Said deductions shall begin on the first such regular payday in each calendar week which starts one or more days after receipt by the University of said assignment and shall continue thereafter so long as specified in the assignment or until 10 days following revocation of the assignment in writing. All sums so assigned shall be paid by the University to the Union during the month in which deducted. The Financial Secretary of the Union shall certify to the University on an annual basis, or whenever there is a change in union dues, the current Union dues.
- 4. <u>Time to Conduct Union Business</u>. The Union President or another Union officer, who is employed by the University, may be designated by the Union as Chief Steward and such designation shall be in writing from the Union to the Vice President for Campus Safety. Subject to prior arrangements with Department Management, the Chief Steward (or a substitute designated by the President) shall be allowed, without loss of pay up to a maximum of twenty-four (24) hours of regular working time per month, to confer with Union members or conduct Union business during working hours. Normally requests to be excused for union business should be made to either the Deputy Chief/Executive Officer (hereinafter "Deputy Chief") or the Lieutenant as far in advance as practicable, however, when circumstances make notice to management impossible, the on-duty supervisor may grant the request. Requests for Union time will not result in overtime unless approved by management in emergency circumstances.

In addition, during collective bargaining negotiations between the parties, members of the designated BUSPA negotiations committee shall be allowed to meet to work on contract issues while on-duty, but must be ready and able to respond to calls if needed. This practice must be approved by the Vice President for Campus Safety or their designee in advance of the meeting(s), depending on manpower needs and allocations at the time of the meeting, and this practice shall begin after either party to this Agreement

has requested to commence negotiations. Furthermore, during collective bargaining negotiations between the parties, members of the designated BUSPA negotiations committee who are required to attend formal negotiation sessions between the parties on their off-duty time shall be granted an equivalent amount of "non-FLSA compensatory time", as governed by Article XVII, Section 8.

II. MANAGEMENT

1. Operation. The parties agree that the operation of the University, including supervision of the employees and of their work, is a right of the University. Accordingly, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the making of reasonable rules to assure an orderly and effective work; the determination of reasonable work schedules; the determination of minimum staffing levels; the determination of what duties, including post and special assignments shall be performed; and of employee competency; the subcontracting of work; the hiring, transfer, promotion, demotion, layoff, discharge or suspension of employees for just cause without regard to Union membership and without discrimination; and the right to communicate directly with employees and to inform them directly concerning employment matters, are privileges of the University.

The University may implement reasonable policies and procedures that govern the workplace conduct and expectations of the union employees; provided however, that no such policies and/or procedures shall:

- (a) modify, contravene, or supersede the provisions of this Agreement; or
- (b) unilaterally enact changes or mandates with respect to wages, benefits, hours, and/or other working conditions of employment which are mandatory subjects of collective bargaining, prior to entering negotiations with the Union until agreement or formal impasse is reached.

The University shall notify the Union in writing in advance of the initial implementation of new and/or changes to existing University policies and procedures. The Union may request the University meet and discuss any of the proposed changes prior to implementation. Should the Union consider that any such proposed new or revised policy or procedure is in conflict with this agreement or enacts changes or mandates with respect to wages, benefits, hours, and/or other working conditions of employment which are mandatory subjects of collective bargaining, it shall have the right

to request that the parties engage in "impact" bargaining until agreement or formal impasse is reached. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the Union from pursuing remedies under the grievance and arbitration provisions with regards to the University's administration of existing University policies and procedures.

The University is willing to meet with the Union to advise the Union of its intention and/or decision to subcontract work, or will meet with the Union at its request to discuss subcontracting work being performed on campus. The University agrees, in using these privileges, that the provisions of this agreement relating to seniority will be followed. The University also agrees that the interests and viewpoints of the employees will be considered and that the right of the Union to represent any of the employees for collective bargaining and in dealing with the individual grievances shall be observed.

- 2. <u>Vacancies</u>. Bargaining Unit positions in the Department may be left vacant for any of the following reasons:
 - a) Normal delay in processing for filling vacancy.
 - b) Planned delay due to intervening vacations, lack of qualified candidates, or other good and sufficient cause.
 - c) Planned elimination of a position from the Department due to lack of work or funds.
 - d) Positions vacated by transferred or promoted employees in accordance with Article IV, Section 2.

When the vacancy is due to condition (a), the University agrees to fill the position within 120 days. When the vacancy is due to condition (b), the University agrees to advise the Union in writing of reasons for the delay and to set a date by which it is expected the position will be filled.

When the vacancy is due to condition (c), the University will notify the Union forthwith.

When qualifications such as ability, training, education, and skill are considered equal, the University shall give the preference to an employee having the longest unit seniority for filling job vacancies.

III. SENIORITY

1. <u>Listings</u>. Seniority listings will be maintained by the University listing all employees covered by this Agreement. The University agrees to advise the Union of addition, deletions and other status changes affecting the unit seniority listing and to do so in a timely fashion.

2. Definitions

- a) "Unit Seniority" is the length of an employee's service from his or her most recent starting date of employment with the University in the bargaining unit.
- b) "Classification Seniority" is the length of an employee's service from the date an employee first worked in the classification to which he or she is presently assigned. An employee shall have classification seniority in no more than one classification at any time.
- 3. <u>Shift Bidding Preference and Process</u>. If a shift vacancy arises, and the University in its discretion chooses to fill that vacancy, the following process will be used.

On an annual basis, in the month of January, a shift bidding process shall take place in order to fill all shift vacancies that occurred in a classification during the previous July 1 – June 30 shift bidding period. Employees in the classification in which the vacancy arises (as of the date of the January shift bidding process) shall have the right to submit a bid to fill the vacancy. The successful bidder will be the employee in the classification having the longest unit seniority. If unable to do so, the employee and the Union will be advised in writing of the reason. In order to prevent a domino-type effect, shift changes pursuant to this provision will be limited to two (2) for any one (1) initial vacancy and, thereafter, the vacancy will be filled in accordance with the other provision of this Agreement.

When a shift vacancy occurs in a classification during the year in between the annual January shift bidding processes (i.e. a temporary shift vacancy), employees in the classification in which the temporary shift vacancy arises shall have the right to submit a bid to fill the vacancy. The successful bidder will be the employee in the classification having the longest unit seniority. The position will be filled within 30 days from the closing date of said bids. All temporary vacancies will be subject to the subsequent January shift bidding process.

Assignments will take effect on the schedule immediately following July 1st. The shift selections will be in effect July 1 – June 30.

- 4. <u>Layoffs.</u> In the event that it becomes necessary to lay off employees during the term of this Agreement, said layoffs shall be accomplished in the following manner:
 - a) Employees in classification 301 shall be laid off first.
 - b) Thereafter, employees will be laid off by classification but, within each classification employees shall be laid off by inverse unit seniority.

When rehiring takes place, those employees laid off last shall be rehired first, provided such employee shall accept the re-hiring within three (3) days after notice and shall report for work within fourteen (14) days after notice that he or she will be re-hired and no new employee shall be re-hired until the list of qualified former employees has been first exhausted. No employee who was in classification level 301 will be re-hired until all other employees in the other classifications have been afforded an opportunity to be rehired.

An employee who has been employed for four (4) or more months shall not be laid off without one-week prior notice unless paid wages for one standard work week. In the event that an employee resigns from a position covered by this agreement, the University may, at its discretion, reinstate that employee's university seniority earned prior to resignation if it should be decided to rehire that employee.

5. <u>Tie Breaking Procedures for New Hires</u>. In the case of CPOs who are hired on the same day, seniority shall be decided by that employee with the highest score from the training academy.

If for any reason the tie in seniority for CPOs cannot be determined in the fashion aforesaid, or in any other situation where employees have the same seniority, then availability to start working as a CPO officer first shall serve as the tiebreaker.

IV. PROBATIONARY PERIODS

- 1. <u>Newly Hired Employees</u>. All newly hired employees shall serve a one-year probationary period.
- 2. <u>Transferred or Promoted Employees</u>. An employee transferred or promoted shall serve a six (6) month probationary period in the new position. An employee transferred

or promoted from a part-time to a full-time position, or an employee transferred or promoted during the first twelve (12) months of employment with the Department, shall serve a twelve (12) month probation in the new position. If the employee does not successfully complete said probationary period, said employee shall be returned to his or her former classification and such action will not be subject to the grievance procedure except the employee may file a grievance on the grounds that the removal from the new position was arbitrary, capricious, or discriminatory, and further, if it is found otherwise, the grievance will be denied.

V. EMPLOYEE DEFINITIONS

1. Regular Employees. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "regular employees" means those employees who have satisfactorily completed the first three (3) months of their initial one-year probationary service in a position covered by this Agreement. Prior to the completion of the initial one-year probationary service, any employee may be terminated by the University at any time without reference to the seniority provisions or grievance procedures set forth in this Agreement. The Vice President for Campus Safety or a designee will meet with the affected employee, advise the employee of the decision to terminate and afford the employee the opportunity to comment. Upon the satisfactory completion of the initial one-year probationary service, the employee will be advised of his or her job classification and the rate of pay under this Agreement, and his or her seniority under the agreement shall date from the employee's first day of work.

Thereafter, the employee's performance shall be reviewed on an annual basis by the employee's supervisors who shall discuss the review with the employee and show the employee his or her performance review sheet. The employee shall be given a copy of the review. The annual performance review is not subject to the grievance procedure, however, an employee who is unsatisfied with the review can prepare a written response which shall be attached to the review and kept in the employee's human resources file.

Qualified regular employees shall be given preference over applicants for work when jobs are available and particularly for jobs offering advancement.

- 2. <u>Full Time Employees</u>. For the purpose of this Agreement, the term "full time employees" means those employees who are engaged with mutual understanding that they will be continuously employed and who work at least twenty-five hours per week.
 - a) 12-month full time building guards accrue the same benefits as noted in this contract for full time employees; if they work less than 40 hours per week then vacation and sick time is pro-rated. Vacation requests must be at least one week in advance in order to provide time to fill the position.
 - b) 9-month full time building guards accrue vacation and sick time on a prorated basis according to the number of months they work and the number of hours per week. Vacation time may be used during the months they are working or not working.
- 3. <u>Part Time Employees</u>. For the purpose of this Agreement, the term "part time employees" means those employees who are engaged with mutual understanding that they will be continuously employed and who work less than twenty-five (25) but more than twelve (12) hours per week.

Part time employees are not entitled to the fringe benefits contained in this Agreement, such as, but not limited to, health benefits (except as provided for in Section X), life insurance, vacations and holidays, but may be represented by the Union for all other purposes.

Part time employees will be required to pay dues to the Union in an amount proportionate to the total number of hours worked each week.

Part time employees shall be considered as internal candidates with regard to candidacy for a position in the department. Wage progression will be based on the permanent full-time bargaining unit hire date. Other entitlements will be based on continuous University seniority.

VI. PROMOTIONS

- 1. <u>Definition</u>. "Promotions" shall be the advancement by an employee within the bargaining unit to a higher paying job classification covered under this Agreement.
- 2. <u>Promotions</u>. When qualifications such as ability, training, and skill are considered equal, the University will give the preference to the employee having the longest unit

seniority in cases of promotions. The determination by the University of the qualifications of an employee shall be final in all matters and shall not in any case be interpreted to constitute a grievance. However, a letter of explanation of the University's action shall be given to an effected employee promptly upon request.

VII. DEMOTIONS

- 1. Demotion <u>Defined</u>. Demotion is a move to a lower paying job classification covered by this Agreement.
- 2. <u>When Permitted</u>. An employee may request such a demotion and the University in its sole discretion may honor the request. The University's decision with respect to such a request shall not be subject to grievance procedure.

VIII. TRANSFERS TO OTHER CLASSIFICATIONS

- 1. <u>Lateral Transfers</u>. A lateral transfer is a move to another classification at the same level.
- 2. <u>Temporary Transfers</u>. For purposes of this section temporary transfers are defined as those transfers where there is an expectation of returning to a former position upon completion of assignment. A temporary transfer may be a lateral move, promotion or demotion.

Whenever it is necessary for the University to temporarily transfer an employee to another job, the employee shall receive either his or her regular rate of pay or the rate of pay for the job, whichever is higher.

3. <u>Permanent Transfers</u>. For purposes of this section permanent transfers are defined as those transfers where there is no expectation of returning to a former position.

An employee permanently transferred shall be entitled to only the rate of pay for the job to which he or she is transferred.

4. <u>Preference on Transfers</u>. When qualifications such as ability, training and skill are considered equal, the University shall give the preference to the employee having the longest unit seniority in the case of transfers.

IX. WORKING CONDITIONS

- 1. <u>General</u>. The University agrees to maintain the following provisions relating to working conditions. If circumstances develop which, in the judgment of either the University or the Union, warrant changes in these provisions, readjustments shall be worked out through the process of collective bargaining. Since changes may be warranted by circumstances beyond the control of either the University or the Union, either is entitled to request consideration of proposals to revise these provisions at any time. Such requests are to be made without the necessity of otherwise revising the basic contract.
- 2. Equal Employment Opportunity. There will be no discrimination against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national or ethnic origin, age, sex, disability, veteran status, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, or any other characteristic protected under applicable law. The aforesaid provision shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; or termination, rates of pay, or other forms of compensation; and selection for training. The Union and the University mutually recognize the Grievance Procedure as the usual means of resolving employee complaints. An employee alleging discrimination on the part of the University may seek redress before appropriate University offices responsible for investigating and resolving complaints of discrimination and harassment based on a protected characteristic, state and/or federal commissions and courts and the University shall not discharge, suspend or in any way penalize said employee for raising such claim, except that the University does not hereby waive its legal rights.

X. HEALTH AND SAFETY

1. <u>Safety Rules</u>. The University shall continue, as heretofore, to comply with legal regulations, whether heretofore, or hereafter made, governing safety or working conditions, and will otherwise provide so far as possible for protection of the health and safety of the employees. The Union agrees that the employees shall observe reasonable safety rules. Specifically, employees shall immediately report to their supervisor any accidental injury and shall comply with rules requiring medical examination or treatment. Employees shall be free to consult their own physicians without cost to the University, but, in any case of accidental injury the University shall in no way be obligated to accept the opinion of physicians not retained by the University.

2. <u>Medical Insurance</u>. The University will provide all employees covered by this Agreement with the same health coverage options offered to other Brown employees. The current options offered are: Blue Cross Blue Shield Health Mate Coast-to-Coast, and United Health Care – Choice Plus. Commencing with plan year 2011, the University can substitute these named carriers with any other carrier or carriers provided that it does so for all other Brown employees.

If the University exercises its right to substitute or change carriers, it will provide notification to bargaining unit members as part of its annual open enrollment period communications. The University shall endeavor to ensure that provider networks of new carriers include those providers currently covered by existing plans. No exclusions for preexisting conditions are included in any of the plans that Brown offers.

An employee working 18.75 hours or more per week, annualized, or an eligible full-time employee's share of the premium cost shall automatically be deducted from their pay through the University Flexible Premium Plan. Effective January 1, 2023 and thereafter, full-time employees will pay 13% of the cost of the premium. In the event a part-time employee elects to obtain a health plan, the part-time employee will pay one-half of the premium for the health plan elected through payroll deduction and the University Flexible Premium Plan.

The University will provide all eligible employees the opportunity to subscribe to its Brown University Dental Insurance Plan provided the employee pays their share of the premium by automatic payroll deduction through the University's Flexible Premium Plan.

The University will continue to provide medical and life insurance during an approved leave of absence due to illness, injury, disability or maternity leave, provided the employee is responsible to the University for that contribution percentage portion of the premium they are obligated to pay pursuant to the terms of the Agreement in accordance with the conditions set forth below.

The employee may choose to prepay their premium contributions by contacting University Benefits (leave_admin@brown.edu) or will be automatically set up for billing if they will be on an unpaid leave for 4 weeks or more. Employees on unpaid leave for 4 weeks or less will have the premium contributions deducted from their paycheck upon return and until paid in full.

If an employee is terminated, the employee and their eligible dependents have the right to continue group health insurance coverage in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act ("COBRA"). In all cases the employee or eligible dependent is required to pay the applicable COBRA premium cost. The University is responsible for informing employees and eligible dependents of their rights under COBRA and enrolling them for coverage if they so choose.

- 3. <u>Life Insurance</u>. The University agrees to include eligible officers in Brown's Group Life Insurance Plan with a flat \$50,000.00 minimum benefit and a reduction schedule which takes effect after age 65, and accidental death and dismemberment coverage.
- 4. <u>Long Term Disability</u>. All regular full-time employees who meet the eligibility requirements will be covered by the University's Long Term Disability Plan.
- 5. <u>Flexible Plans</u>. All employees who meet the eligibility requirements may participate in the University's Flexible Health Benefits Plan and/or Flexible Dependent Care Plan.
- 6. <u>Continued benefits</u>. The University agrees to offer the surviving spouse of a deceased employee continued health and dental insurance coverage through COBRA for the applicable eligible period. The first six months of continued health and dental coverage will be at no cost, and the remainder of the continuation coverage will be available at the full COBRA premium.

XI. SICK TIME

1. Sick Time with Pay. All regular full-time employees covered as of July 1, 1986, shall be entitled to twelve (12) sick days with pay at their straight time rate during each benefit year (July 1 - June 30). All regular full-time employees hired after July 1, 1986, will earn, during the first contract year in which they are employed, one (1) sick day with pay for each 1.0 month of service commencing with their date of hire. Employees who are off probation will be given 12 days of sick time on the books effective July 1 of each year; however, if that employee leaves the University before the end of that fiscal year, the sick time will be applied at a pro-rated basis and if the employee has used more than the allotted pro-rated amount, then that time will be deducted from that employee's last check. An employee that does not use sick time in the fiscal year, July 1 to June 30, will receive one compensation day on July 15. Employees shall not be entered into the

Guardian Tracking system for using sick time; provided, however, that a clear pattern of excessive tardiness and/or absenteeism may be documented. Any employee who has not used the sick days to which he or she is entitled by the end of the contract year will have all unused sick time "banked" as follows:

- 2. <u>Banking Time</u>. An employee will be allowed to accumulate unused sick days to be drawn upon at a later date if such employee becomes sick. In order to draw upon such accumulated sick time, the employee must actually be sick and have exhausted the sick time allotted for that benefit year to which he or she is otherwise entitled under the contract. The University shall have the right to have an employee examined by its own physician.
- 3. <u>Use of Sick Time During Approved Disability Leave</u>. Employees who are out of work on either a University approved medical/disability leave of absence and/or Workers Compensation leave will draw down on current, and then banked sick leave in either full day or half day increments based on the preference of the employee, for scheduled work days only. Employees may also use an extra (or fifth) sick day on short weeks if requested. Thereafter, if the employee is still unable to return to duty, he or she may exercise the option of using available vacation benefits or compensatory time in the same manner. The vacation time off or compensatory time off must be used consecutively from the expiration of their sick time, including any unused banked sick time, and the employee cannot request the vacation time off sporadically. Employees who are out of work and receiving Workers' Compensation payments may draw down on current and then banked sick leave, and vacation or compensatory time, in the same manner.
- 4. Procedures for Granting Sick Leave. In order to be granted sick time, the employee or a designee must notify that employee's department head or supervisor 1 1/2 hours prior to the employee's reporting time for work, except in cases of proven inability to furnish such notice. An employee is entitled to take up to five (5) consecutive sick days without the necessity of submitting a doctor's excuse, except, the University may require a physician's excuse in support of any request for sick time, provided the employee involved has been notified in writing on the occasion of their last prior absence for sickness or injury that such evidence might be required for any future request for sick time. Absences greater than five (5) consecutive working days (i.e., greater than five (5) consecutive sick days, not including pre-approved vacation time off) require an employee to go through the University's leave request process, i.e., FMLA/RIPFML, Disability. Provided however, the requirement of an employee to go through such leave request processes shall not supersede their right to the use of their allotted sick days when they are sick or disabled pending and/or after approval of the leave request. When an

employee is on an approved FMLA/RIPFML Leave, no less than half day increments can be used.

Full-time employees may use up to twelve (12) days of their current or banked sick leave per year to care for a sick spouse, child or parent.

The Union agrees to cooperate with the University to prevent abuses of sick time. Abuse by an employee of sick time shall be grounds for disciplinary action or discharge. In view of this provision for paid sick time, other employees shall assist in covering the duties performed by the employees on sick time.

Employees who are on an approved FMLA/RIPFML leave and/or a paid disability leave in accordance with Article XVI.6 of this agreement will continue to accrue sick pay for six (6) months of continuing leave of absence, regardless if said absence crosses benefit years. Employees who are on an unpaid non FMLA /RIPFML/disability leave and which crosses benefit years will receive a prorated sick time allotment based on the month that they return to work on a paid status. Employees who are on a workers' compensation leave in accordance with Article XVI.7 of this agreement will continue to accrue sick pay for twelve (12) months of continuing leave of absence, regardless if said absence crosses benefit years. Employees who are on an unpaid leave in accordance with Article XVI.8 of this agreement will not accrue sick leave.

5. <u>Supplemental Pay for Certain Worker's Compensation Injuries</u>. Certain extraordinary duties and responsibilities required of Officers warrant the University to implement a special pay policy limited to a serious injury or disability sustained by an officer in the line of duty: in acts of violence (such as stabbing or shooting) or peril (such as life rescue) or in the apprehension of a suspect. This agreement will provide an officer with a supplement to Workers' Compensation wages to provide full pay (based on regular hours) up to sixty (60) calendar days.

Officers injured in the line of duty must follow the standard procedure for reporting an injury. The injury must be reported to the employee's supervisor immediately to ensure appropriate medical attention. Supervisors should review the details of the accident with the injured employee and the employee should complete the Brown University Injury Report Form and submit it to the Insurance Office within 48 hours of the accident. (Delays in reporting may jeopardize an employee's eligibility for Worker's Compensation benefits.)

The Insurance Office must receive proper medical documentation from the employee's attending physician substantiating disability and work restrictions as soon as possible. If the Insurance Office determines that the officer is eligible for Workers' Compensation, a committee comprised of the Vice President for Campus Safety or his designee, the Deputy Chief of Police, and the Senior Director of Labor Relations for the University will determine whether the injury meets the criteria for supplemental pay. If it is determined that the injury meets this standard, the department will pay a supplement to Workers' Compensation wages to bring the officer to full (regular) pay for a 60-day period. The officer will be required to give additional documentation from time to time as a condition for continuing these payments and to submit to an examination by a physician appointed by the University, if this is deemed desirable by the University.

At the end of the sixty (60) day period, a review of the circumstances of a particular instance, if necessary, will be conducted by the University to determine if the condition of the officer warrants a thirty (30) day extension.

The University's decision will be final and will not be considered as having established a precedent for future cases. Furthermore, the University's decision will not be subject to the contractual grievance and arbitration process.

XII. RETIREMENT

- 1. <u>Voluntary Retirement</u>. No employee will be subject to involuntary retirement because of attainment of a specified age. Nothing contained herein, however, shall limit the right of the University to terminate the employment of any employee if and when, in the judgment of the University, the employee is no longer qualified to perform the duties of employment.
- 2. <u>Sick Time Buy-Out</u>. A regular employee covered by this Agreement who has twenty (20) or more years of seniority when retiring on or after that employee's normal retirement date shall be entitled to payment for one-half of that employee's unused sick time accumulated as of the date of the employee's retirement, which buy-out payment of accumulated unused sick time shall not exceed payment for seventy (70) days plus any unused sick time in the current contract year to which the employee is entitled, i.e., such buy-out payment shall be for no more than 82 sick days. Employees discharged for just cause shall not be entitled to such payments for either accumulated or current unused sick time

An employee leaving the University in good standing with at least five (5) years of continuous full-time service, who is not eligible for the sick time buy-out provision above, shall be entitled to be paid for 25% (one-fourth) of any accumulated sick time, up to a maximum of thirty (30) days. Payment will be at the employee's rate in effect at the time of payment.

3. <u>Death Benefit</u>. In the event an employee dies during her/his employment, her/his beneficiary will be paid out 100% of the employee's accumulated unused sick time up to the maximum allowable cap of seventy (70) days.

XIII. VACATIONS

- 1. <u>Rate of Pay</u>. Regular employees shall receive a vacation with pay, each year, of the length shown in Section 3 hereof. Vacation pay shall be upon the basis of a standard work week and at the rate per hour paid the employee for the last week prior to his or her vacation. Shift differential will be included in vacation pay.
- 2. <u>Selection of Vacations</u>. Employees shall be given a choice of vacation on the basis of seniority standing. Vacation picks will be submitted between February 1 and March 1 for the next fiscal year, July 1 to June 30. Management shall post said vacation picks no later than March 20. Yearly seniority vacation picks will be scheduled in full week blocks (Sunday through Saturday). Single day vacation picks may also be scheduled, on a seniority basis, after full week vacations are scheduled. All employees shall have appropriate advance notice of when their vacations may be taken. Vacations may be taken at any time during the year subject to the right of the University to reasonably limit the number of employees on vacation in favor of the effective operations of the Department. Authorization of vacation requests will be given within seven calendar days of the request.

When an employee makes their vacation dates selections, either on University forms and/or through a University computerized program, he/she shall be permitted to also include regular-scheduled "days off" immediately before and/or after the selected vacation period as part of said vacation period in the vacation date request.

3. <u>Entitlement.</u> The length of the vacations of said regular employees shall depend on the length of continuous service with the University retroactive to full-time date of

hire on June 30th in each year as shown on the following table and shall be taken after June 30th in each year:

Length of Service	Vacation Allowed		
0, but less than 2 years	12 working days		
2 years and more	22 working days		

Eligible employees shall be allowed to maintain up to 32 unused vacation days at any time during their employment, which available unused days may be used year to year and can be used as described herein.

It is the intention of the Department to approve vacation requests so as to avoid overtime whenever practicable.

In the case of any employee whose period of employment by the University was interrupted by service with the Armed Forces of the United States, the period of such employee's service with the Armed Forces of the United States shall be deemed to be employment by the University for purpose of determining vacation benefits, subject to the provisions of Title XVI, Section 3 herein. It is understood that, subject to the preceding provisions of this paragraph, the University will permit an employee to use his or her vacation time in order to take one or more days off to observe religious holidays celebrated by members of such employee's faith.

Newly hired employees will receive a prorated vacation entitlement based on the month in which they are hired. Employees who are hired in July will receive the full entitlement of 96 hours (12 days). Thereafter, the entitlement will be reduced by one day (eight hours) for each month in the fiscal year cycle until they reach July 1 of the next year. For example, an employee hired in September would receive 80 hours (ten days); if hired in December, 56 hours (seven days); in March, 32 hours (four days); and in June, eight hours (one day). On July 1 of the following year, the employee would receive 96 hours (12 days); and on July 1 of the year after that, 176 hours (22 days).

An employee who completes 25 years of service is awarded an additional 10 days of vacation time (prorated for employees working less than 100% time) on a one-time-only basis. Recipients may use the additional days at any time, with their supervisor's

approval, and the days do not have to be taken all at once. Bonus vacation time that is unused is payable at termination of employment.

4. Vacation time shall be allowed to be taken in 15-minute increments.

XIV. HOLIDAYS

- 1. <u>Holidays</u>. The University will recognize the following holidays:
 - New Year's Day
 - Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
 - Memorial Day
 - Juneteenth
 - Independence Day
 - Labor Day
 - Indigenous People's Day
 - Veterans Day
 - Federal Election Day (every two years)
 - Thanksgiving Day
 - Day after Thanksgiving
 - Christmas Eve
 - Christmas Day
 - New Year's Eve

For employees working a 5-2 schedule, if a Holiday falls on a Saturday it will be observed on the immediately preceding Friday and if a Holiday falls on a Sunday it will be observed on the immediately following Monday.

2. <u>Working on Holidays</u>. Any full-time or part-time employee required to work on one of said holidays whether or not it is a scheduled work day for such employee, shall receive payment at double time for the hours actually worked on such day. Provided however, any full-time or part-time employee who works "shift overtime" (i.e., not a detail assignment) on one of said holidays shall receive payment at double time and one half for the hours actually worked on such shift.

An employee on approved vacation time, personal time, compensatory time, or accreditation time that encompasses a holiday on which they were scheduled to work,

will be credited back with whatever type of time they used to cover the holiday (i.e., vacation time, personal time, comp time, or accreditation time) up to the applicable 15-minute increment.

3. <u>Compensatory Time Off for Holidays Not Worked</u>. Employees shall receive eight (8) hours of compensatory time off at straight time rates for each holiday not worked from the date of final execution of the entire collective bargaining agreement. Said compensatory time off will only be granted if it does not create overtime. If an employee requests compensatory time off which has not yet accrued, an equivalent number of hours shall be deducted from that employee's accrued, unused vacation/personal time; if such employee has no accrued, unused vacation/personal time, the employee's pay will be docked in an equivalent amount. Said compensatory time off may be discharged in in any amount of time intervals with a minimum of fifteen (15) minutes.

Employees on any type of paid or unpaid leave are not eligible for compensatory time off under this section. Employees who are scheduled to work but are off on any type of paid or unpaid leave are not eligible to receive the compensatory time off for that holiday. For further clarification, the compensatory time off time only goes to those who are actually scheduled to be off on the particular holiday as part of their regular 4-2 rotation. No compensatory time is accrued under this section for the employee who is scheduled to be off for the holiday but swaps their shift by agreement with other employee. In all cases, employees are either eligible for compensatory time off for holidays not worked or double time pay for holidays worked but never both.

XV. WINTER BREAK

In the event that the President authorizes a university-wide winter-break closing, the Brown University Security Patrolpersons Association and Brown University agree to the following:

- 1. The Christmas Eve holiday, the Christmas holiday, the New Year's Eve Holiday, and the New Year's Day holiday are covered by the terms and conditions of Article XIV of the parties' Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- 2. Winter break hours will begin 7 a.m. on the day following the University closure and will conclude at the end of third shift, or 7 a.m., on the first day the University reopens.

- 3. Except for those individuals described in section 3(G) below, all bargaining unit members will be required to work during winter break in order to ensure effective operations. These employees who are required to work during winter break will be treated in accordance with subsections (A) through (G) below:
 - A. Employees who are required to work during winter break will be granted "winter break" compensatory time off ("Winter Break Comp Time") equal to the hours worked in the break (up to a maximum of 8 hours per day, depending on the employee's regular work schedule).
 - B. If an employee has approved vacation time scheduled during the winter break closing, said vacation time shall not be deducted from their annual vacation leave entitlement. Such vacation time will be credited back after the approved vacation time has been taken. Moreover, any approved vacation time, personal time, compensatory time, or accreditation time which is taken by an employee on a holiday during winter break on which the employee was scheduled to work (i.e. on the Christmas Eve holiday, the Christmas holiday, the New Year's Eve Holiday, and/or the New Year's Day holiday) shall be credited back to the employee in accordance with the terms and conditions of Article XIV, Section (2) of the parties' Collective Bargaining Agreement.
 - C. Employees who volunteer or are required to work Personnel Shortage Overtime during the employee's regular day off will receive overtime pay plus compensatory time off equal to the number of hours actually worked, but not to exceed 8 hours per day.
 - D. Employees who are scheduled to work and take a sick day, personal day, or other paid time off in lieu of sick pay, will receive pay at the regular rate only and will not accrue compensatory time off.
 - E. Details will be paid at the regular detail rate and no Winter Break Comp Time will accrue. Details on holidays will be treated in the same manner as the other contractual holidays.
 - F. No employee will accrue more than 8 hours of compensatory time off per day during the period of the closing.
 - G. Those employees in Specialized Assignments on a 5/2 schedule are not expected to work and will be treated in accordance with the University staff holiday

schedule. Said employees may work details and shift overtime during the period of the closing. In addition, said employees have the option to work their own shift during the winter break. If they wish to do so, they must request approval from their supervisor no later than the date communicated by management. The request for approval should include a list of projects that will be completed during the winter break.

4. Employees who work overtime assignments outside of their regular shift on a scheduled work day during this period will be paid at the overtime rate of time and one-half and will not receive Winter Break Comp Time.

XVI. OTHER EXCUSED ABSENCES FROM WORK

1. <u>Bereavement</u>. In the event of the death in the immediate family of an employee, said employee shall be entitled to a bereavement leave of absence up to a maximum of the employee's five (5) scheduled working days, which bereavement leave days need not be taken consecutively in the event of scheduling delays in the funeral and related services, but in any event must be taken within three (3) months of the date of death, and be paid regular straight time pay for all regularly scheduled work days missed, only to be paid if they are regularly scheduled working days.

For the purposes of the provision of this section, "immediate family" shall generally mean mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparent, grandchildren, sister, brother, child, step parent, step child, spouse, or domestic partner of the employee.

In the event of a death of an aunt, uncle, grandparent-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, niece, or nephew, the employee shall be given a two-day bereavement leave of absence with pay to attend the funeral and/or other memorial services.

Employees shall be permitted to take up to one day of paid bereavement time off to attend the funeral or memorial service of family members not listed above.

If an employee is on vacation at the time of one of the aforesaid deaths, the employee's status shall be changed from "vacation" to "Bereavement Leave of Absence".

2. <u>Jury Duty</u>. All staff employees can request time off for jury duty. An employee who serves jury duty will receive full pay and benefits for the duration of jury duty. It is

expected that employees will report to work when jury duty is not required for a full workday.

3. <u>Reserve Duty</u>. A regular employee with a Reserve or National Guard commitment who attends required annual duty training or who is activated due to a national, state or local emergency, shall receive up to a maximum of ten (10) working days in any twelve (12) month period, the difference between what the employee would have earned at his or her regular straight time rate of pay had he or she been at work for that period and the payment received for such duty.

In order to receive this differential, the employee must present the University with an order from the Federal or State Government ordering him or her to duty and a statement from the paymaster of his or her Reserve or National Guard Unit indicating the amount of pay received for his or her training.

For purposes of computing vacations, time spent in the required annual training or required active duty described in this section shall be considered time employed by the University.

If an employee continues to serve in Reserve or National Guard Unit beyond the period of obligatory service, periods of absence caused by training or active duty shall be considered leave without pay and no benefits under this Agreement shall be accrued during such periods of absence.

- 4. Personal Days. Two personal days with pay will be provided each benefit year (July 1st to June 30th) to employees who have at least 1 year of service in a full-time position as of the first day (July 1st) of the benefit year in question. One such day may be used at any time for any reason, except on Holidays, Training Days, or Blockout Dates (but such Blockout Dates shall be limited to ten (10) per calendar year). The second day will only be granted when it will not necessitate overtime. Employees who have less than 1 year of service in a full-time position as of the first day (July 1st) of the benefit year in question will receive one personal day that will only be granted when it will not necessitate overtime. Requests for personal days must be made in a timely manner. Personal days cannot be carried over from year to year.
- 5. <u>Parental Leave</u>. The granting of parental leave shall be governed in all respects by the University's Parental Leave Policy. Should there be any change to the University policy, the Union agrees to be governed by the policy as amended, provided the University policy remains consistent with state and federal law.

- Disability Leave. Upon written application from an employee who is unable to work due to personal injury or illness, the University in its exclusive discretion may grant a written leave of absence pursuant to either the Family Medical Leave Act and/or Americans With Disabilities Act without pay not to exceed sixty (60) days provided the request is made in advance (if possible), indicates the anticipated date of return to work, and is accompanied by medical documentation stating that the employee is unable to work. The leave of absence will not be unreasonably denied if it is contemplated that the employee will be able to return to work upon the completion of the leave, if it will not seriously impair the Department's operation, and if the Vice President for Campus Safety can hold a position open for the employee's return. The leave may be granted, extended, or renewed for additional periods of up to sixty (60) days for reasons which, in the opinion of the University, are satisfactory. Sick time, including time that has been banked, must be used consecutively from the start date of the approved leave, i.e., time off cannot be used sporadically. The administration of the employee's leave of absence granted under this section will be governed by the University's policies and procedures governing leave of absence as administered by the University Benefits Office, except when in conflict with specific provisions of the parties' agreement.
- 7. Workers' Compensation Leave. Employees who are receiving workers' compensation payments as a result of an injury which occurred while on duty with the University will not be required to request a leave of absence in writing during the first twelve (12) months of absence due to injury, but will be placed on such leave. The employee will provide the University's Workers Compensation Office, a copy of work status notes prepared by a physician following periodic examinations. Upon the expiration of the twelve-month period the employee will be required to request a leave in accordance with (6) above.
- 8. Other Leaves. Upon written application from an employee the University in its exclusive discretion may grant a written leave of absence without pay not to exceed thirty (30) days where good cause is shown provided the request is made in advance, indicates the anticipated date of return to work, and states briefly the purpose of the request. The leave of absence will not be unreasonably denied if it is contemplated that the employee will actually return to work upon the completion of the leave, if it will not seriously impair the Department's operation, and if the Vice President for Campus Safety can hold a position open for the employee's return. The leave may be granted, extended, or renewed for additional periods of up to thirty (30) days for reasons which, in the opinion of the University, are satisfactory.

- 9. <u>Benefits During Leave</u>. Seniority shall accumulate during the period of the leave of absences granted in accordance with 6, 7, and 8 above and shall be retained thereafter. However, time absent on leave shall not be counted as time at work for any other purpose except as provided for elsewhere in this agreement. The employee will remain responsible for the full cost of their contribution percentage portion of the premium for medical insurance during a leave of absence granted under sections 6, 7 and 8 of this Article (XVI) in accordance with the University's published rates.
- 10. Accreditation Day. For every year the Department remains an accredited law enforcement organization by the Commission on the Accreditation of Law Enforcement Agencies (CALEA), employees shall receive time off equal to one (1) day with pay. Said day must be taken within the benefit year (July 1st to June 30th). Said day will only be granted when it will not necessitate overtime. Requests to use this day must be made in a timely manner. This Accreditation day cannot be carried over from year to year and must be taken as a full day. This day will be pro-rated for part-time employees.
- 11. <u>Employee Appreciation Days</u>. Brown University has authorized Employee Appreciation Days, which are paid days off for all staff and faculty.

BUSPA members on a 4-2 schedule who are required to work or are regularly scheduled to be off on an Employee Appreciation Day will receive eight hours' comp time. BUSPA members on a 5-2 schedule who are regularly scheduled to be off on an Employee Appreciation Day will be given eight hours off at regular pay.

For any BUSPA member recalled to campus on an Employee Appreciation Day, OT recall protocols will apply.

Employees who are scheduled to work during an Employee Appreciation Day and take vacation time, personal, comp time, or an accreditation day will be credited back that time immediately after the Employee Appreciation Day.

Employees who are scheduled to work during an Employee Appreciation Day and take a sick day, personal day, or other paid time off in lieu of sick pay, will receive pay at the regular rate only and will not accrue the comp time described above.

XVII. HOURS OF WORK

1. <u>Normal Hours</u>. The normal hours of work for employees in the job titles other than those in level 301 (building guards) shall be forty hours per week, eight hours per

day and five days per week. The normal workweek starts with the commencement of the 1st shift on Sunday and ends with the closure of the 3rd shift on the following Saturday. The normal workday starts with the commencement of the 1st shift and ends with the closure of the 3rd shift.

2. <u>Work Schedule</u>. Eight-Hour Days: Four shifts 0700-1500 / 1500-2300 / 1900-0300 / 2300-0700. The personnel on each shift will be broken down into three groups. The individuals in these groups would work the same schedules and would have the same off days. This is a basic 4-2 schedule. Officers will be paid an additional eight hours' straight time in weeks when their rotation results in a 32-hour workweek.

	Sun	Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	
A	W	W	W	W	O	О	W	40
В	W	W	O	O	W	W	W	40
C	Ο	O	W	W	W	W	Ο	32
A	W	W	W	O	O	W	W	40
В	W	O	O	W	W	W	W	40
C	O	W	W	W	W	O	O	32
A	W	W	O	O	W	W	W	40
В	Ö	O	W	W	W	W	Ö	32
C	W	W	W	W	O	O	W	40
A	W	O	O	W	W	W	W	40
В	O	W	W	W	W	O	O	32
C	W	W	W	O	O	W	W	40
C	VV	VV	VV	O	O	VV	VV	40
A	O	O	W	W	W	W	O	32
В	W	W	W	W	O	O	W	40
C	W	W	O	O	W	W	W	40
A	O	W	W	W	W	O	O	32
В	W	W	W	Ö	Ö	W	W	40
C	W	O	0	W	W	W	W	40
-	• •	-		• •	• •	• •		10

3. <u>Temporary Assignments</u>. The University reserves the right to make temporary work assignments outside an employee's regular schedule, and such assignments shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Such temporary work assignments shall not exceed six (6) months. Upon completion of the six-month temporary work assignment

the officer shall be returned to their pre-temporary work assignment shift. An employee shall not be required to work such assignment unless the employee and the Union receive at least the following prior notice:

- a) Three (3) weeks prior notice for assignments which would be of a period of time greater than one week.
- b) No prior notice or discussion for emergency assignments, Commencement and routine overtime.
- c) Two weeks prior notice for all assignments which do not fall under (a) or (b) above.

Except as noted in (b) above, the Union will have an opportunity to discuss the matter with the University.

Employees who are given prior notice as noted above will be expected to be present at the times and locations designated.

4. Overtime. Employees in levels 301, 302, 303, 304 and 305 shall be paid one-and-one-half their regular straight time hourly rate of pay for all work performed in excess of their regularly scheduled eight hours per day or forty hours per normal work week, without duplication.

For the purpose of this Title, it is understood that the regular straight time hourly rate of pay used for the purpose of computing overtime shall never itself be increased by including it in any overtime, vacation pay, or any other premium pay, whether provided for in this Agreement or otherwise, or by adding such pay to the regular rate of pay. There shall be no pyramiding or duplication of overtime, vacation, or any other premium pay except when an officer consents to work a detail on a previously approved vacation, comp or personal day. Hours paid at overtime rates on one basis shall not be paid, or used to calculate, an additional overtime pay on another basis.

Nonscheduled overtime shall be divided as equally as efficient operations permit to all regular full-time employees available to work such overtime, provided the employee is capable of performing the work. A list of all regular full-time employees in the unit shall be maintained by the University, by seniority, showing the number of occasions when overtime was worked by each officer. This list shall be kept up to date, being no

less than twenty-four hours in arrears of when overtime was worked, and shall be posted and available to all bargaining unit personnel.

Management has the right to have mandatory call back which will be utilized after the established "offering" procedure has been exhausted. Call back is considered a duty of each officer and shall be mandatory unless the officer can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the supervisor, a compelling reason for being unable to work.

It will be assumed that the employee is ready, willing and able to work call back, unless an employee has notified the supervisor in writing that he/she does not wish to participate in any overtime for a specified period (minimum of seven days). The employee who has made such notification remains subject to mandatory call back.

Overtime work shall be assigned in reverse order of the standing list, i.e., to the person with the least amount of overtime hours for the quarter in question. When the overtime hours of two or more persons are the same, the senior person shall be given preference.

The parties agree that in the event of any mandatory assignment vacancy, DPS will first post the vacancy and offer said vacancy to BUSPA members in an attempt to fill said vacancy before offering and/or assigning the vacancy to any non-bargaining unit employees. More specifically, DPS shall post any such vacancy for at least one (1) hour through the Brown University "DTS" system for BUSPA members before offering and/or assigning the vacancy to any non-bargaining unit employees.

The parties agree that if any mandatory assignment vacancy occurs within a 72-hour window and the vacancies are not voluntarily filled, the on-duty supervisor will force (manually assign) the BUSPA member who is currently scheduled to work that day (a day is defined as a 24-hour period of time) and has the least amount of hours will be forced (manually assigned) based on the OT protocol and in accordance with Section 6, paragraph 6 of this Article. The BUSPA member assigned will be advised of the assignment via DTS and in person.

The parties agree that a BUSPA member cannot be required to monitor DTS for the requirement to report to duty (i.e., "forced" as a mandatory assignment/order-back) on their regular days off or on their paid time off, unless in case of an emergency as declared by Brown University's Vice President of Public Safety. The parties agree that a BUSPA member will check his or her email and the DTS system immediately upon returning to work.

The parties agree that any BUSPA member who is required to report to duty (i.e., "forced" as a mandatory assignment/order-back) to fill any shift position vacancy shall be paid at the rate of double their rate of pay (i.e., "double time") for such work. The BUSPA member shall be permitted to attempt to obtain another BUSPA member to work said shift position vacancy or detail assignment vacancy in their place, and that BUSPA member shall also be paid at the rate of "double" their rate of pay (i.e., "double time") for such work.

The Union recognizes that it may at times be necessary to deviate from the above procedure because of emergency, short notice or in the interest of effective scheduling of the work.

Consistent with the above and consistent with past practice, the University shall have the right to designate which classification should perform the overtime assignment.

Paid vacation time, bereavement leave, compensatory time, accreditation time, and personal days will be considered time worked for the purposes of calculating overtime. Sick leave shall not be considered as time worked for the purposes of calculating voluntary shift overtime.

Part time employees will be paid straight time for all hours worked less than forty hours per week, except as noted under Article XIX, Pay for Details.

Unless directed by their immediate supervisor, employees may not work more than a maximum of sixteen (16) hours per workday and eighty (80) hours per work week. The employee will share responsibility for ensuring that s/he does not exceed these hours' limits and may be subject to progressive discipline for non-compliance. Except in an emergency as designated by the Vice President for Campus Safety, the Department cannot force an employee to work on both of their days off within their six (6) day work cycle.

Overtime equalization groups have been established as follows:

Group A: Employees in classifications included in Levels 301 through 305.

Group B: Employees in classifications included in Level 300.

5. <u>Court and University Mandated Hearings</u>. An officer who is required to attend court or hearings in which their presence is mandated by the University outside their regular shift shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours pay at time and one-half, except

when such appearance is required immediately before or after the officer's regularly scheduled shift, whereby the following will apply.

- a. When such hours are less than or equal to four hours, an officer who is required to attend court hearings in which their presence is mandated by the University prior to the start of their shift will receive pay at the overtime rate for the hours involved preceding the regular shift. (Example: an employee is required to attend a proceeding two hours before their shift, the employee shall receive a minimum of two hours pay at the overtime rate. An employee is required to attend a proceeding three hours before their shift, the employee shall receive a minimum of three hours pay at the overtime rate.)
- b. An officer required to attend court or a hearing in which their presence is mandated by the University beyond their regular shift shall be paid at time and one- half for the time actually worked.

In the event that the officer's appearance outside of their regular shift requires less than four hours of the officer's time, the University reserves the right to require said officer to work the full four-hour period.

- 6. <u>Firearms Qualification</u>. Employees who otherwise would be off duty who are required by the Department to qualify at a firing range under a certified range officer will be paid at time one and one-half their regular hourly rate for applicable attendance hours.
- 7. <u>Emergency Closing</u>. Employees required to report to work or to remain at work during emergency closings of the University, including during emergency closings which occur outside of the University's normal business hours, will be paid at double their regular rate.
- 8. Shift Substitution Procedure. Any member of the bargaining unit may switch their days off with a member of equal rank (classification). To be eligible for a shift switch, an employee must provide written notification to their supervisor giving the reason for the request no less than twenty-four (24) hours prior to the start of the requested day off. No request shall be honored for the purpose of engaging in outside employment. A supervisor shall have the right to deny a switch request, if it would require overtime. An employee is limited to ten (10)) shift switches per month, up to five (5) of which may be used in a minimum increment of down to no less than two (2) hours (i.e., less than eight [8] hours but not less than two [2] hours). This does not apply to switches for educational purposes.

- a) An officer cannot switch a shift on their scheduled training day. In furtherance of this provision, Brown University and Brown University Security patrolperson's Association have agreed upon a work schedule to carry out the foregoing provision.
- b) Nothing in this section shall be construed to entitle any member of the bargaining unit to overtime pay for any calendar week as a result of their working more than eight (8) continuous hours when substituting for another employee. All exchange days shall be completed during the Sunday through Saturday pay period. Brown University Security Patrolperson's Association on behalf of all members of the bargaining unit hereby expressly prohibits any member from requiring the University to pay overtime in the event a person fails to complete the substitution exchange. An employee may switch shifts with another employee and take a vacation day on that shift provided that there is adequate staffing to grant the time-off request. *In the event an employee is unable to fulfill the shift switching obligation including but not limited to the employee calls out sick or is AWOL and the department incurs overtime expense, said expense shall be charged against the employee's vacation entitlement.
- c) Officers who agree to substitute with another officer shall report to duty at the scheduled time and will be held accountable for failing to do so. A substituting officer who fails to report for duty shall face disciplinary action and may receive serious disciplinary action, including up to one day suspension without pay and denied the opportunity to substitute with another officer for a period of six (6) months.
- d) If any issue arises by virtue of this provision, the parties agree to meet and attempt a resolution. In any event, the application of this provision is not grievable or arbitrable.
- 9. <u>Meetings</u>. Employees mandated to attend work and/or training meetings in person will be paid overtime, with a minimum of four (4) hours of paid overtime. In the event a mandatory work and/or training meeting is attended remotely (i.e., via Zoom), the officer will be paid overtime for the length of the meeting, with a minimum of two (2) hours of paid overtime.
- 10. <u>Compensatory Time</u>. Under circumstances expressly provided within this agreement or as determined ad hoc by management, BUSPA officers may be awarded compensatory time ("comp time") in addition to or in lieu of pay, or as an incentive for

participation in voluntary activities. Examples of known circumstances include comp time awarded for working during the winter break; for holidays not worked; for perfect attendance; for attendance at DPS meetings, events, or outreach programs; or serving as an in-house instructor or field training officer.

Comp time hours earned will be credited to a "comp time bank." The amount of time that can be accrued in this bank is capped at 30 days. When the cap is reached, no further time will accrue until time is used to bring the banked hours below the cap. There is no expiration date for accrued comp time.

Requests to use comp time will only be granted when they will not necessitate overtime.

Management acknowledges that there may be special circumstances where officers may be allowed to accrue time beyond the cap. In cases where officers have requested comp time off but have been denied due to staffing issues, they may submit a request to the Captain or designee to carry time above the cap. Approvals of such extension requests will be limited to no more than sixty (60) days.

XVIII. WAGE RATES AND CLASSIFICATIONS

1. <u>Job classifications</u>. The following job classifications will apply during the life of this Agreement.

Level 301	Full time Building Guards
Level 302	Security Officer
Level 303	Public Safety Officer
Level 304	Communication Control Officer
Level 305	Campus Police Officer

2. <u>Wages</u>. Wages for the members of the Union shall reflect the following wage increases during the period of this Agreement, as reflected in the Wage Charts set forth further below:

•	7/1/25-6/30/26:	4.0% salary increase
•	7/1/26-6/30/27:	3.5% salary increase
•	7/1/27-6/30/28:	3.5% salary increase
•	7/1/28-6/30/29:	4.0% salary increase

• One-time hourly pay supplement: The University will provide a one-time lump sum payment of \$800 to all eligible employees, which shall serve as a replacement in lieu of any retroactive wage adjustments.

Wage rates effective July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2029:

	FY26	FY27	FY28	FY29
Campus Police Officer (305)	4.0%	3.5%	3.5%	4.0%
Hire	31.63	32.73	33.88	35.23
One year	32.41	33.54	34.71	36.10
Three years	33.38	34.55	35.76	37.19
Five years	34.21	35.40	36.64	38.11
Seven years	38.80	40.16	41.57	43.23
Communication Control Office	cer (304)			
Hire	23.38	24.20	25.04	26.05
One year	27.31	28.27	29.26	30.43
Three years	28.59	29.59	30.63	31.85
Five years	29.86	30.90	31.99	33.26
Seven years	33.25	34.41	35.62	37.04
Public Safety Officer (303)				
Hire	23.17	23.98	24.82	25.81
One year	27.09	28.04	29.02	30.18
Three years	28.34	29.33	30.36	31.57
Five years	29.60	30.63	31.71	32.97
Seven years	32.96	34.11	35.31	36.72
Security Officer (302)				
Hire	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
One Year	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Five Year	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	
Seven Years	32.55	33.69	34.87	36.27	
Building Guard/Full Time (301)					
Hire	19.81	20.51	21.22	22.07	
One year	20.60	21.33	22.07	22.95	
Five years	22.48	23.27	24.09	25.05	
Seven years	25.30	26.19	27.11	28.19	

- 3. <u>Lateral Hires</u>. "Lateral hires" of new employees who were previously non-probationary (i.e., "permanent status") certified Police Officers or Communication Control Officers/Dispatchers in another police department shall begin employment at the Five-Year Step Salary Level. For purposes of this provision added in the 7/1/2025 CBA, all current Communication Control Officers with less than five (5) years of service who were "Lateral Hires" as previous non-probationary (i.e., "permanent status") certified Communication Control Officers/Dispatchers in another police department shall immediately be moved to the five-year salary level.
- 4. <u>Shift Differentials</u>. Employees in classifications included in Levels 301 through 305 whose regularly scheduled shift begins at or after 3:00 PM will be paid additional shift differential pay for each hour actually worked according to the following schedule

	7/1/25 - 6/30/29
Second shift (1500-2300)	\$1.35
Mid shift (1900-0300)	\$1.45
Third shift (2300-0700)	\$1.55

Employees working personnel shortage overtime during these shifts will receive this additional pay. This provision is intended to reflect the mutual understanding of the parties that the nature of the work during these hours justifies the pay differential and shall not in the future be cause for the Union to request parity for employees who are not assigned to work these hours. This pay differential does not apply to details.

Employees may participate in direct payroll deposit in accordance with guidelines established by the University and as may be revised from time to time, if and when this service becomes available for staff on the weekly payroll.

Communication Control Officers who are assigned to work shifts with a Public Safety (PSO) shall receive a \$3.50 per hour premium.

- 5. <u>Length of Service Employee Retention Payments</u>. Lump-sum Employee Retention Payments based upon length of completed service shall be paid to employees on their hire anniversary date of each applicable payment eligibility year, as follows:
 - a one-time \$500 payment on the employee's 12th Year of Service anniversary date,
 - a one-time \$1,000 payment on the employee's 14th Year of Service anniversary date,
 - a one-time \$1,500 payment on the employee's 16th Year of Service anniversary date, and
 - a one-time \$2,000 payment on the employee's 18th Year of Service anniversary date.

All current employees who had more than 18 Years of Service as of July 1, 2025 shall also receive the \$2,000 Payment upon execution of the Agreement.

6. <u>Education Stipend</u>. Effective July 1, 2025 all bargaining unit members shall be eligible to receive an annual education stipend upon submission of satisfactory documentation to the Brown University Department of Public Safety verifying the completion of an academic degree from an accredited institution of higher education. Members shall receive a stipend corresponding to the highest level of academic degree attained, as follows:

Stipend shall reflect the single highest degree attainment:

- Associate's Degree \$500.00
- Bachelor's Degree \$1000.00
- Master's Degree \$1500.00

The education stipend shall be distributed on or before September 1 each fiscal year. In the event of a discrepancy or dispute regarding a member's educational records, it shall be the responsibility of the employee to provide the necessary documentation to verify degree completion to the satisfaction of the University.

XIX. PAY FOR DETAILS

1. Special Details. Special details will include, but not limited to, high profile and/or controversial University community events that have an anticipated attendance of 500 or more. There are a number of special events that occur annually which are specifically designated as and thus deemed Special Details. These Special Details include: Fall Move in Weekend, Spring Weekend concerts, and Commencement weekend. In addition to these annual events, the Vice President for Campus Safety or designee may designate any detail as a "special" detail. Special details must be filled before any other paid details scheduled for the same day are offered to bargaining unit members; however, officers will not be required to forfeit a previously accepted detail for that same day. The Vice President for Campus Safety or designee shall designate a detail as special at least seven (7) days prior to the event, if possible.

The pay rate for special details shall be double time the regular rate of pay.

- 2. <u>Non-University Sponsored Events</u>. Employees will receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the rate of \$39.00 per hour or time and one-half, whichever is greater, for work on special details outside their normal work schedule. The pay rate for details performed on University holidays shall be double time.
- 3. <u>University Sponsored Events</u>. Employees will receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the rate of time and one-half for work on special details outside their normal work schedule for University sponsored events.

If the Vice President for Campus Safety or their designee determines that a University sponsored event requires security and/or campus police officer detail(s), such detail(s) shall be offered to BUSPA members prior to being offered to non-bargaining unit members.

The Vice President for Campus Safety reserves the exclusive right to determine the number of paid details, if any, needed at University sponsored events as well as the rank, classifications and qualifications of the officers eligible to perform such details.

4. <u>Exception</u>. The exception to Section 2 above is as follows.

Employees working details shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours pay at time and one-half except when such work is required immediately before or after the employee's regularly scheduled shift, whereby the following shall apply:

- a. Employees working a detail that commences less than three and a half hours prior to the start of their regular shift shall be paid time and one-half on a portal- to-portal basis for the hours actually worked preceding their regular shift.
- b. Employees working a detail that commences more than thirty minutes prior to the end of their regular shift shall be paid time and one-half on a portal-to-portal basis for the hours actually worked following their regular shift.

This provision is not intended to cover incidental task completion that goes beyond the end of the shift for which the regular overtime rules apply.

- 5. Training. Communication Control Officers and Building Guards who have notified the Vice President of Campus Safety or their designee in writing of their desire to work details and who also agree to be ordered for such details when required, shall be trained in the appropriate use of any and all equipment deemed necessary for them to carry on details by the Vice President for Campus Safety or designee. Either the Department of the Communication Control Officer and Building Guard may terminate the working of details at the conclusion of each fiscal year for any reason with thirty (30) days' written notice. If neither party terminates the working of details, it shall be automatically renewed for an additional year.
- 6. <u>Retired Members' Ability to Work Details</u>. During the term of this Agreement, the parties agree to continue discussions concerning the possibility of implementing a Policy and Contract language permitting Retired Members to work Details under certain conditions, limitations, and requirements.

XX. RETIREMENT PLAN

1. <u>Brown University Retirement Plan</u>. Employees hired before July 20, 2001 or those rehired on or after July 20, 2001 with applicable prior service who are working 1,000 hours

or more per year will be able to participate in the Brown University Retirement Plan for Security Patrolpersons (hereinafter "the Plan"), a defined contribution plan, in accordance with the following.

- a. Participation in the Plan is mandatory and begins after one year of eligible service.
- b. An employee must contribute a minimum of 2% of eligible pay.
- c. The University will contribute an amount equal to 8% of employee's eligible pay. (If during the term of this Agreement the University increases its contribution factor to the Brown University Retirement Plan for non-exempt employees, the same improvement will be applied to employees covered by this Agreement.)
- d. The University's contributions increase by 2% on the first of the month following an employee's attainment of age 55.
- e. The University and employee contributions are immediately and fully vested.
- f. All investment options provided for in the Plan will be available.
- g. An employee must meet the Plan eligibility requirements as modified herein to be eligible.

"Eligible pay" as defined in this section means the aggregate amount payable as regular salary to a participant by the University, excluding bonuses and overtime pay. For purposes of this Section, the amount payable as salary will be determined without taking into account any salary reduction relating to the purchase of annuity contracts or investment in custodial accounts or the provision of medical, dependent care, or other welfare benefits.

2. <u>Brown University Deferred Vesting Retirement Plan</u>. Employees hired on or after July 20, 2001 who work 1,000 hours or more per year are eligible to participate in the Brown University Deferred Vesting Retirement Plan (hereinafter "the DV Plan"), in accordance with the following.

- a. The University's contributions to the DV Plan will begin after six months of eligible service.
- b. Employee contributions are voluntary, but the University's contributions will increase with employee contributions of up to 2% of eligible pay.
- c. The University's contributions will be made as follows.

	The University's	
	Contributions if below	The University's
	age 55, or if age 55 or	Contributions if age 55
Employee Contribution	older with less than 10	or older and 10 or more
Schedule.	years of service	years of service
0% but less than 1%	6%	8%
1% but less than 2%	7%	9%
2% or more	8%	10%

- d. As the table above indicates, the University's contributions increase by 2% at age 55 with 10 years of service.
- e. Employee contributions are immediately and fully vested. The University's contributions are vested over time according to the following schedule.

Completed Years of Service	Vested Percentage	Forfeitable Percentage
Less than 2	0%	100%
2 but less than 3	20%	80%
3 but less than 4	50%	50%
4 but less than 5	75%	25%
5 or more	100%	0%

- f. All investment options provided for in the DV Plan will be available.
- g. Must meet the DV Plan eligibility as modified herein to be eligible.

"Eligible pay" as defined in this section means the aggregate amount payable as regular salary to a participant by the University, excluding bonuses and overtime pay. For purposes of this Section, the amount payable as salary will be determined without taking into account any salary reduction relating to the purchase of annuity contracts or investment in custodial accounts or the provision of medical, dependent care, or other welfare benefits.

The University reserves the right to make modifications required by law and to choose which alternative when more than one is available.

3. <u>Voluntary Retirement Contributions</u>. Eligible employees may make voluntary retirement plan contributions to the plan for which they are eligible up to the maximum level specified by law.

XXI. UNIFORMS AND PERSONAL APPEARANCE

1. <u>Standards</u>. For those employees who are covered by this Agreement and who are required to wear a uniform on the job, the University reserves the right to prescribe standards of personal appearance and grooming, to include hair length and restrictions on facial hair, without recourse to the grievance procedure. Prior to changing standards of personal appearance, the University will notify the Union of the proposed change and afford the Union an opportunity to discuss the change.

Employees who are provided a uniform and identification tags by the University shall be required to wear such uniform and on the outermost clothing an identification tag and badge while on duty.

Employees are required to maintain a clean and proper appearance at all times.

2. <u>Clothing Allowance</u>. Full-time employees will receive a clothing maintenance allowance of \$1400. Part-time employees' allowance will be determined as a pro-rated amount based upon the number of months they work and the number of hours worked per week. The Clothing Allowance for each fiscal year is payable in four equal installments on July 1, October 1, January 1, and April 1 or as close to these dates as is practicable.

Detectives' clothing maintenance allowance will be 25% above the allowance for uniformed staff.

Employees absent from work during the entire quarterly period will not receive the clothing maintenance allowance for said period and continuing forward until he or she returns to regular duty. Employees so affected will receive the clothing maintenance allowance pro-rated to the week in which he or she returns to duty. Employees agree to have clothing allowances already paid deducted from the following payment upon execution of authorization.

XXII. SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT

- 1. <u>Notice of Intention to Leave</u>. If and when an employee leaves the service of the University, on their own initiative, they shall give reasonable notice of such intention to the Department, provided that it shall not be a period less than two weeks. If such notice is not given by the employee, such employee shall not be entitled to receive compensation for any accumulated vacation rights to which he or she would otherwise be entitled. All time off requests subsequent to the submission of the notice of intention to leave must be approved by their supervisor.
- 2. <u>Accumulated Vacation</u>. Any regular employee leaving the employment of the University shall receive, at the time of such leaving, in addition to all other sums due him or her, a payment at his or her regular rate with respect to each day of accumulated unused vacation time pursuant to Article XIII, Section 3 above.
- 3. <u>Severance Pay</u>. In the event the employment of a full-time employee shall be terminated because of inefficient or other similar unsatisfactory performance of such employee's work (other than misconduct as provided below), the dismissed employee shall be paid, in addition to any unpaid wages earned for work performed prior to the actual date of termination of employment, severance pay in lieu of any accumulated vacation pay as follows:
 - a. if the dismissed employee has been continuously employed by the University over one year, but under two years, one week's regular wages without overtime.
 - b. No severance pay or other severance benefit, including without limitation accumulated vacation pay, will be paid or given in the event of termination of employment for misconduct or other violation of University regulations.

XXIII. GRIEVANCES

1. <u>Procedure</u>. The representatives of both the University and the Union shall be responsible for making earnest efforts satisfactorily to adjust any grievances or misunderstandings between the employees and the University.

An employee is entitled to have a Union representative present at an interview by the University which the employee reasonably believes might result in disciplinary action.

The following procedure shall be observed in handling grievances.

- **Step 1**: The Union steward and the employee shall take up the matter with the immediate supervisor of the employee involved within eight (8) business days after the occurrence giving rise to the grievance.
- Step 2: If the grievance cannot be settled with the supervisor within ten (10) business days, the grievance shall be stated in writing and signed by the employee (if it is an individual grievance) within ten (10) business days after the occurrence giving rise to the grievance. The written grievance shall explain as specifically as possible the nature of the complaint and the contract provision affected, and shall be taken up at a meeting between a representative of the Union and the Vice President for Campus Safety. The meeting will be held within ten (10) business days after having been requested.
- Step 3: The grievance will be answered in writing at Step 2 within seven (7) business days after the second step meeting, unless the time is extended by mutual agreement of the parties. Either party may, by written notice to the other, demand that the grievance be submitted to Step 3 provided such notice is given within ten (10) business days after the answer at Step 2. Third step meetings should be taken up by the principal officers of the University and the Union or their designated representatives. The meeting under this Step shall be made within ten (10) business days from the request and the decision shall be given within ten (10) business days after the third step meeting, unless mutually agreed otherwise by the parties.
- **Step 4**: If settlement is not reached in Step 3, and if the matter in dispute involves the interpretation or application of this Agreement, then either party may, by written notice to the other, demand that the grievance be submitted to arbitration provided that such notice is given within fifteen (15) business days from the date of the University's decision in Step 3. Said written notice or appeal must include a specific statement of the

issues, relevant contract provisions and remedies sought, and be submitted simultaneously to the American Arbitration Association and the University (or Union if appropriate). An arbitrator shall be appointed under the rules of the American Arbitration Association. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding, except that the arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, change or disregard any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement. The fees and other charges of the arbitrator shall be equally divided between the parties.

- 2. General Policy Grievances. The Union may, in its own behalf, file a "general policy" grievance when the Union can substantiate that an employee or group of employees has failed to file a grievance alleging improper application or interpretation of the Agreement and said failure jeopardizes the Union's right to maintain the integrity of the Agreement between the parties. General policy grievances shall not be used as a substitute for individual grievances; by way of example, discipline and/or discharge when the employee affected refuses or fails to file a grievance in their behalf. General policy grievances shall be filed in writing at Step 2 of the procedure and signed by a representative of the Union within ten (10) business days of the event giving rise to the grievance or within ten (10) business days of the Union's knowledge of such event.
- 3. <u>Pay for Grievance Time</u>. Where Steps 1, 2, 3 or 4 of the grievance procedure take place during working hours, the University will pay for any regular straight time wages actually lost by the Union representatives and the employees involved in the grievance meetings.
- 4. General Provisions. The grievance and arbitration procedure provided herein shall constitute the sole and exclusive method of determination, decision, adjustment or settlement between the parties of any and all grievances and the grievances and arbitration procedure provided herein shall constitute the sole and exclusive remedy to be utilized. An employee who feels aggrieved by an order to perform a certain task shall not refuse to perform the task but shall perform same and then submit a protest as a grievance. However, if an employee refuses to perform a task because of an unsafe condition or because of the unsafe condition of the equipment provided to perform the task and the employee's supervisor sends the employee home, the employee will be compensated for all lost time if the University Risk Management Chief determines that the condition or equipment provided was in fact unsafe, or if the employee is successful in pursuing the grievance under the grievance procedures.

The University shall have the right to initiate Step 2 and 3 of the grievance procedure with respect to any grievance, dispute or difference. Such initiation shall be by letter from the University to the President of the Union.

The time limits specified in this Section shall be deemed to be substantive provisions and failure to observe each and every such time limitation shall be a complete bar to any further action by reason of such grievance, unless extended by written consent signed by the University and the Union. The terms "working day" and "working days" wherever used in this Title shall mean and include any calendar day other than a Saturday, Sunday or holiday. All grievance hearings, other than arbitration, shall be conducted between the hours of 9:00 AM and 5:00 PM.

5. <u>Retaliation</u>. During the consideration of a grievance no one concerned therewith, either directly or indirectly, shall utilize any coercive or retaliatory measures to attempt to influence any party involved.

XXIV. STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

It is agreed between the parties that during the term of this Agreement or any renewal, or extension hereof, whether or not there be a grievance dispute pending, there shall be no strike, lockout or stoppage of work concerning any matter in dispute arising out of this Agreement. Further, there will not be any sympathy strike whether sanctioned by the Union or any member of the Union, or not sanctioned, during the term of this Agreement.

XXV. NEGOTIATIONS

In case of any failure of the University and a negotiating committee of the Union to agree upon matters of concern to the general membership of the Union, the proposals, and counterproposals under discussion may be submitted in writing by either the University or the Union to all employees covered by this Agreement.

XXVI. DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

- 1. <u>Introduction</u>. Brown University hereby agrees that no member of BUSPA shall be disciplined in any manner or form without just cause. Any contested disciplinary action shall be processed through the grievance and arbitration procedures as set forth in this agreement.
- 2. No employee who has completed the initial one (1) year probationary period shall be discharged or demoted without being afforded a hearing under the procedure as set forth in this title.
 - a) Summary disciplinary action may be meted out by any person with supervisory responsibilities for infractions of Department rules and regulations. An employee feeling aggrieved by this summary disciplinary action can appeal it by initiating the grievance procedure at the first step.
 - b) Serious disciplinary action may be meted out only by the Vice President for Campus Safety or the person acting as Vice President for Campus Safety in his absence. The procedure set forth in Section 4 of this Title will be applicable when serious disciplinary action may result.

Definitions.

- a) "Summary Disciplinary Action" is counseling, verbal reprimand, written reprimand, and/or suspension for the balance of the shift.
- b) "Serious disciplinary Action" is any suspension without pay, any period of disciplinary probation, or termination of employment.
- c) "Disciplinary Hearing" is any meeting held by the Vice President for Campus Safety or a person acting as Vice President for Campus Safety in his absence, to examine the evidence and circumstances of an alleged violation of Department rules and regulations following which a judgment of guilt or innocence will be made and appropriate follow-up action on this finding taken.
- 4. <u>Initiation</u>. A disciplinary proceeding may be initiated by a citizen complaint, information from another bona fide verifiable source, observation by a person with supervisory responsibility or be self-reported by the employee.

5. Procedures for Serious Disciplinary Action.

- a) Investigation Following the initiation, an investigation will be performed by a member of management or a person/persons or agency designated by the University in order to determine the facts of the complaint. The investigation can involve taking statements from witnesses and the collection of physical evidence. Before a statement is taken from an employee, the employee will be informed in writing of the nature and source of the complaint.
- b) Charges Following the investigation, the investigating officer will report their findings to the Vice President for Campus Safety who will make a determination as to whether or not there are grounds for a charge of violation of Department rules and regulations. If there are grounds for believing such violation took place, a formal written charge will be issued by the Vice President for Campus Safety. Along with the written charge, the alleged offending employee will be provided copies of reports and statements pertaining to the investigation.
- c) Admission of Charges If the employee admits to the charge then the Vice President for Campus Safety will make a determination as to the penalty to be imposed.
- d) Denial of Charges If the employee denies the charges, then a hearing will be held within ten (10) days after the denial. The Vice President for Campus Safety will determine guilt or innocence based upon the facts established at the hearing. The findings of the hearing will be written.
- e) Appeal An employee may appeal any finding of guilt or the penalty imposed by the Vice President for Campus Safety. To do so, the employee must indicate his intent to appeal in writing to the Vice President for Campus Safety within seven (7) working days. Thereafter the issue will be considered at Step 3 of the Grievance Procedure and handled pursuant to that Section of the Agreement. If settlement is not reached in Step 3, the issue may move on to Step 4 of the grievance procedure.
- 6. Relief to be Granted. If it is ultimately decided that the discharge, suspension, demotion or penalty was unjust, the employee shall be reinstated and be entitled to all back pay and benefits that said employee may have lost as a result of the disciplinary action.

7. Miscellaneous Provisions.

- a) Minutes will be kept at hearings to include the possibility of tape recording the proceedings.
- b) All disciplinary proceedings will be confidential except the results of the hearings.
- c) Any alleged offending employee may have a Union representative present at any disciplinary proceeding that they are required to attend.
- d) Whenever it is necessary and practicable to do so, the person or persons involved in the incident or incidents giving rise to the matter at issue will be asked to testify, and the alleged offending employee or their representative will be afforded an opportunity to ask questions to establish matters of fact.
- 8. <u>Suspension Without Pay</u>. Nothing herein shall prohibit any person of management from suspending an employee without pay pending investigation when the employee has been charged with a felony. In such a case a hearing shall take place within ten (10) days from the date of the suspension but may be continued at the request of the employee who shall continue to be suspended without pay.

9. Due Process Guarantees.

- a) Any interview or interrogation will be conducted at a reasonable hour, preferably at a time when the employee is on duty.
- b) The interview or interrogation will take place at the office of the investigating employee.
- c) Interview and interrogation sessions will be for reasonable periods and will be timed to allow for such personal necessities and rest periods as are reasonably necessary.
- d) If any employee is under arrest or is likely to be placed under arrest as the result of the interrogation, he or she shall be completely informed of all his or her rights prior to the commencement of the interrogation.

XXVII. PAID ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE

- 1. <u>Definition</u>. Paid administrative leave is a temporary, paid leave status that may be granted or imposed by the University under specific circumstances, including but not limited to internal investigations, pending disciplinary actions, critical incidents, or at the discretion of the University when it is in the best interest of the department and/or employee.
- 2. <u>Paid Status</u>. Employees placed on paid administrative leave shall retain full pay and benefits for the duration of the leave, including accrual of vacation, sick, and personal time, and continued contributions to retirement and health insurance plans.
 - 3. Duration and Notification of Paid Administrative Leave.
 - a) The University shall make every effort to limit the duration of paid administrative leave to the shortest period necessary to resolve the matter prompting the leave.
 - b) The employee and the union shall be notified in writing of the reasons for the paid administrative leave within 24 hours of its commencement.
 - c) If the leave exceeds ten (10) business days, the University shall provide the employee and the union with an update on the status of the underlying matter and an anticipated timeline in writing.
- 4. <u>Use in Investigations</u>. Placement on paid administrative leave shall not be construed as a presumption of guilt or wrongdoing and shall not be considered disciplinary in nature. The University agrees to complete any internal investigation involving an employee on paid administrative leave in a timely and efficient manner.
- 5. <u>Return to Duty</u>. Upon conclusion of the paid administrative leave, the employee shall be notified in writing of the outcome and any further action to be taken. If no disciplinary action results, the employee shall be returned to their previous assignment, shift, and pay status unless otherwise agreed upon by the employee and the union.
- 6. <u>Findings</u>. Any employee placed on paid administrative leave who is subsequently found to be wholly or partially not guilty of the allegations that led to said leave shall be entitled to reimbursement for any lost detail/overtime pay the employee was scheduled to work during the period of paid administrative leave.

Payment Terms:

- Compensation shall be paid in a lump sum within thirty (30) calendar days of the officer's return to full duty.
- The payment shall be treated as back pay and subject to applicable payroll taxes and withholdings, retirement contributions match from the university.

If the paid administrative leave continues into a new fiscal year, the University will agree to buy-out the employee of any accrued vacation hours that will exceed the 32-day cap as well as any unused personal days and professional days.

XXVIII. BULLETIN BOARDS

It is agreed that the University shall provide specific bulletin boards which may be used by the Union for the sole purpose of posting notices. Notices shall be restricted to the following type:

- a) Notices of Union recreational and social affairs;
- b) Notices of Union elections, appointments, and results of Union elections;
- c) Notices of Union meetings.

The posting of all material will be done with the approval of the Employee Relations Department.

XXIX. TUITION

1. <u>Tuition Aid Program</u>. All eligible employees may participate in the University's Tuition Aid Program in accordance with policy and procedures established by the University. The program provides assistance in paying undergraduate tuition costs for dependent children of eligible employees.

Natural or legally adopted dependent children of eligible employees must:

- Attend an institution eligible for federal Title IV Grants;
- Be enrolled full-time in an undergraduate degree program; and

 Be in good standing, and make normal academic progress as defined by the institution they attend.

Employees will be taxed on tuition benefits according to IRS regulations. Tuition aid awarded by Brown will not exceed tuition costs for the institution attended.

2. <u>Employee Education Program</u>. Eligible employees may receive tuition for courses in accordance with policies and practices of Brown's employee education program as revised from time to time by the University.

XXX. LEGAL REPRESENTATION

The University shall indemnify bargaining unit members against all liabilities and reasonable expenses in connection with the defense and disposition of any civil action, suit, or proceeding in which an employee may be involved or with which an employee may be threatened as a consequence of discharging the employee's responsibilities and duties as an employee of the University, provided that the action of the employee are within the scope of employment, and are in good faith and are undertaken with the reasonable belief that such actions are in the best interest of the University. The University retains the right to direct, settle, compromise and/or otherwise defend said action, suit or proceeding including representation and the use of counsel as it deems desirable.

XXXI. EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall become effective July 1, 2025, and shall continue in effect until midnight June 30, 2029, and from year to year thereafter, unless no less than sixty (60) days prior to June 30, 2029, or any June 30th thereafter, either party gives notice to the other in writing of its desire to terminate or amend this agreement. If notice to terminate or amend is given by either party as aforesaid, this Agreement shall terminate as of June 30th of the year in which said notice is given, unless an Agreement is reached between the parties on proposed amendments before the date or unless the Agreement is extended beyond that date by mutual agreement between the parties.

XXXII. CONFORMITY TO LAW

Should any part of this agreement be held to be illegal or in violation of Federal or State Statute by any court or authorized agency having jurisdiction thereof, the agreement shall be deemed to exclude such part and the balance of said agreement shall continue to be valid as though the objectionable part had never been included. The parties shall forthwith enter into negotiations for the purpose of eliminating such part by substituting language therefore which does not violate said statute or decision.

This agreement shall be superseded by any lawful regulation which is or may be imposed by any governmental authority having jurisdiction in the premises, to the extent that such regulation is in conflict with any of the terms or provisions of this agreement.

XXXIII. SPECIALIZED ASSIGNMENTS

- 1. The Department of Public Safety may provide specialized assignments for purposes of covering non-patrol operational needs as well as providing avenues for professional development. Specialized assignments shall include, but not be limited to, the following:
 - a. Detective
 - b. Crime Prevention Officer
 - c. Communication Coordinator /Lead CCO's
 - d. Community Engagement Officer
 - e. Fleet Equipment
- 2. Whenever the Department determines that it will fill a specialized assignment it shall make an agency-wide announcement.
- 3. The announcement shall include a detailed description of the duties and responsibilities of the assignment as well as its shift.
- 4. Service in specialized assignments shall be year to year. For those officers serving in specialized assignments as of the date of the execution of this Agreement, the yearly term shall be July 1 to June 30.
- 5. Either the Department or the officer may terminate a specialized assignment at the conclusion of each year for any reason with thirty (30) days written notice. If

- neither party terminates a specialized assignment, it shall be automatically renewed for an additional year.
- 6. In addition, the first six (6) months of an officer's service in a particular specialized assignment shall be considered a trial period in such assignment. During this initial six (6) month trial period, the Department may terminate an officer's specialized assignment for any reason. Following the completion of the trial period, the Vice President for Campus Safety may also terminate an officer's specialized assignment mid-term for failure to meet their job expectations; such decisions shall not be arbitrary, capricious and/or unreasonable.
- 7. Any employee serving in a specialized assignment shall receive a \$1.25 per hour premium when actually performing said duty. Detectives shall receive a \$1.75/ hour premium when actually performing said duty.
- 8. The "Field Training Officer" will receive a \$5.00 /hour premium when actually performing said duty and one (1) hour of compensatory time for every four (4) or more hours worked for each eight (8) hour shift worked as a Field Training Officer.
- 9. Detectives shall receive four (4)hours of compensatory time for every week of being on call during their off-duty hours.
- 10. An officer must submit a letter of interest to the Vice President for Campus Safety if he/she wishes to be considered for a particular specialized assignment.
- 11. Only an officer who has completed their initial one (1) year probationary period shall be eligible to serve in a specialized assignment, unless he/she is the only employee who submits a letter of interest to the Vice President for Campus Safety for such assignment.
- 12. Upon completion of a specialized assignment an officer shall be returned to their pre-specialized assignment shift.

XXXIV. ENTIRE AGREEMENT CLAUSE

The parties mutually agree that each party has, through the process of collective bargaining, included in this Agreement, including appendixes attached hereto any and all memorandum of understanding, grievance and/or arbitration settlements and other similar resolutions having the effect of modifying, amending or otherwise changing the language or intent of the prior Agreement between the parties concludes negotiations and resolves all issues between the parties and further is the entire Agreement between parties. Any addition, deletion or modification of those terms shall be by mutual agreement and shall be reduced to writing, signed by both parties and made a part hereof for the term of this Agreement.

Nothing in this Article shall be construed to waive the Union's right to bargain over any unilateral changes that may take place during the term of this Agreement.

With respect to any past practice asserted to have been in existence prior to the effective date of this Agreement, the parties agree that the party asserting the past practice must, in order to establish same, satisfy the following conditions:

Either party claiming the existence of a past practice will be required to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the practice:

- (1) Is unequivocal;
- (2) Has been clearly enunciated and acted upon;
- (3) Is readily ascertainable;
- (4) Has been in existence for a substantial period of time; and
- (5) Has been accepted by representatives of the parties who possess the actual authority to accept the practice.

Past practices shall not contradict the express terms of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto and to give counterparts hereof set their hands and seals, each by its officers thereunto duly authorize, this 23rd day of September, 2025.

In presence of:

BROWN UNIVERSITY IN PROVIDENCE IN THE STATE OF RHODE ISLAND AND PROVIDENCE PLANTATIONS

Committee for the University:		Committee for the Union:	
DocuSigned by:		Signed by:	
Benjamin Trachman	09/23/2025 3:17 PM I	\	09/23/2025 7:09 PM EDT
Benjamin Trachman, Assistant	Director,	John Rossi, National Represen	tative IBPO
Labor Relations, UHR			
Signed by:		DocuSigned by:	
John Vinson	09/23/2025 5:53 PM I	DI	09/30/2025 10:47 AM ED
John Vinson, Deputy Chief		Edward Myers, BUSPA Presid	ent
DocuSigned by:		Signed by:	
Swanne Flynn	09/23/2025 3:58 PM I	DK Y 3 000	09/23/2025 4:07 PM EDT
Suzanne Flynn, Director,		Russell Bart	
Finance/Administration, DPS			
		Signed by:	
		Sherri Marcantonio	09/27/2025 8:09 AM EDT
		Sherri Marcantonio	
		Signed by:	
		Louise McLaughlin	09/30/2025 7:25 AM EDT
		Louise McLaughlin	
		Signed by:	
		David P. Riccio	09/23/2025 3:37 PM EDT
		David Riccio	

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING RE: IMPLEMENTATION OF MID-SHIFT

This Memorandum of Understanding is entered into between Brown University ("the University") and Brown University Security Patrol Person's Association ("the Union") this 26th day of July , 2005.

RECITALS

- A. The University and the Union have entered into a Collective Bargaining Agreement ("CBA") for the period of July 1, 2004 through June 30, 2007.
- B. One of the agreed-upon changes to that CBA was the creation of the mid-shift.
- C. It is anticipated that the employees assigned to the mid-shift will work from 1900 hours to 0300 hours (7:00 p.m. to 3:00 a.m.).
- D. It is further anticipated that the mid-shift will eventually be staffed by three campus police officers ("CPOs").
- E. Because of the shortage of staff and because this is a new shift being implemented for the first time under the CBA, the parties have entered into this Memorandum of Understanding with respect to the manner in which the midshift shall initially be staffed until there is a full complement of CPO's necessary to staff the mid-shift.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged by both the University and the Union, the parties hereto agree as follows.

- 1. The University shall implement the mid-shift when it deems appropriate, but in no event shall the mid-shift begin until after the most recently hired security officer ("SO") completes his in-service field training.
- 2. The first position on the mid-shift shall be filled by an SO by way of a temporary assignment and in the manner set forth in #3 below.
- 3. The University shall first ask for volunteers from the rank of SOs to serve on the mid-shift. If more than one SO is interested in the position, then the SO with the most unit seniority shall receive the temporary assignment. In the event that no SOs are interested in the temporary assignment, then the SO

- with the least amount of unit seniority shall receive the temporary assignment.
- 4. It is anticipated that CPOs yet-to-be-hired will complete their necessary training (graduation from the Rhode Island State Municipal Academy and on-the-job field training) sometime after June 1, 2005. Once that training has been completed, then the assignments to the mid-shift will be put out to bid 50 | Page for CPOs. Those assignments will be filled as all other assignments, i.e. by unit seniority.
- 5. If between now and the time the yet-to-be-hired CPOs complete their training the University decides that it needs an additional employee for the mid-shift, it will be filled on a temporary basis by an SO in the same manner as set for the in #3 above.
- 6. If at any time the filling of the mid-shift (either on a temporary or permanent basis) results in other personnel being removed from their current shift in order to satisfy the staffing needs of either the first, second or third shift, that assignment shall be deemed a temporary assignment so that once there is sufficient staffing to satisfy the needs of the University, the person who has been temporarily assigned shall be offered his/her previous assignment before it goes out to bid.

BROWN UNIVERSITY

By: Steven M. Rotondo Director of Labor Relations

BROWN UNIVERSITY SECURITY PATROL PERSON'S ASSOCIATION

By: Karen Burks, President

Memorandum of Agreement Between Brown University and the Brown University Security Patrolpersons Association (BUSPA) 04/22/05

In order to better ensure the safety of the University Community the parties hereby agree to the following.

- **I. Authority**. The decision to authorize campus police officers to carry firearms during the course of their employment is wholly within the authority of Brown University. The University will have the discretion to determine which campus police officers will be authorized to carry firearms.
- **II. Initial Authorization.** Prior to authorizing campus police officers to carry firearms, the Department will select training programs and screening criteria which each officer must complete.
- **A**. The University will have the discretion to determine which campus police officers will be authorized to carry firearms while on duty. Campus police officers who are employed by the University as of February 28, 2005, and who are not authorized to carry firearms may exercise options as indicated below.
- **B.** Psychological Testing.
 - 1. Employees who score 3, 4 or 5 will pass.
 - 2. Employees who score 2 will be addressed as follows.
 - a. If, on the basis of the evaluation the Department determines it is not in the best interests of the University that the employee be armed, s/he may elect to either take a position of SO, CCO or BG, without loss of seniority, compensation or benefits, and will be required to serve a six month probationary period (CCO only), or may exercise the option of voluntary termination in accordance with II. E (1) below. If the officer fails to successfully complete the probationary period s/he may elect to either take a position of SO or BG, without loss of seniority, compensation or benefits, or may exercise the option of voluntary termination in accordance with section II. E. (1) below. In the event that the employee elects to fill a position for which there is no current vacancy, then the University shall

determine the position to be filled until such time that there is a vacancy for the desired position.

- b. Employees moved to other classifications in accordance with 1 above will not receive a wage increase until the salary of the position to which s/he has been placed exceeds their rate of pay.
- 3. Employees who score a 1 will be terminated. The University has reported that no employee has scored a 1 as a result of the psychological testing.
- C. <u>Firearms Training and Screening</u>. Employees who fail to successfully complete firearms training and screening in accordance with the standards and criteria established by the testing agent or agency may exercise one of the following options.
- 1. Voluntary termination. 2 weeks of severance will be paid per year of service, calculated to the most recent quarter, capped at 26 weeks. Under this option the University will calculate the severance and other entitlements owed to the employee who will have 21 days to exercise the severance option. If the employee exercises this option, severance payments will be made on a weekly basis at the employee's regular rate until exhausted or until such time as the employee starts working in another position at Brown University, whichever comes first. Medical/dental insurance benefits, if continued, must be paid at the employee post tax rate through the period of severance in accordance with COBRA. If the employee opts not to accept a severance package within 21 days the offer will expire and may not be revisited.
- 2. Fill a Vacancy. The officer may elect to fill a vacancy in a position of CCO, SO, BG or PT-BG, without a reduction of seniority, and will be required to complete a six month probationary period (CCO only). If the officer fails to successfully complete the probationary period s/he may elect to fill another vacancy or be placed on the re-hire list in accordance with the following, though not for another CCO vacancy.
- 3. Re-Hire List. In the event that no vacancy exists, the employee will be placed on an unpaid leave and their name will be put on a re-hire list for two years to be contacted in the event that a vacancy occurs. If an employee fills a position from the re-hire list s/he will be credited with seniority for prior service and a six month probationary period will be served for the position of CCO, or any position if the employee has been on leave in excess of a six month period. In the event a person is offered and refuses to fill a vacancy, the University's obligation to that person will cease. The employee must place his name on a rehire list for each job classification which s/he wishes to fill. In the event there are

subsequent lay-offs in the class(es) of position which the employee is interested in filling, the employee's total unit seniority will be credited towards his right to be rehired.

- D. Other Training. Employees who fail to successfully complete the pre-arming training program may exercise the options available in II. C, above.
- E. Other Circumstances. Notwithstanding the above, should the University exercise its discretion to not arm a campus police officer who is employed by the University as of February 28, 2005, without cause or for reasons other than those listed in paragraphs II. B, C or D, the employee may exercise one of the following options.
- 1. Voluntary termination. The employee may exercise the option of terminating their employment with (i.) 1 month of severance pay plus (ii.) an additional 2 weeks of severance per year of service, calculated to the most recent quarter, up to a maximum of 52 weeks for the total combined severance benefit. Under this option the University will calculate the severance and other entitlements owed to the employee who will have 21 days to exercise the severance option. If the employee exercises this option, severance payments will be made on a weekly basis at the employee's regular rate until exhausted or until such time as the employee starts working in another position at Brown University, whichever comes first. Medical/dental insurance benefits, if continued, must be paid at the regular employee rate through the period of severance. If the employee opts not to accept a severance package within 21 days the offer will expire and may not be revisited.
- 2. Re-assignment. The employee may elect to be re-assigned to another class of position in the bargaining unit without loss of seniority, compensation or benefits. If the employee is re-assigned to the job of CCO, the officer will be required to complete a six month probationary period. However, if the employee fails to successfully complete the probationary period (except in circumstances warranting termination under the just cause provisions of the contract) s/he will be re-assigned to another position in the bargaining unit and, in any event, compensation will continue at the rate of a campus police officer (including regular salary increases and benefits) until the employee leaves the position for reasons such as promotion, voluntary transfer, quit or retirement. In the event that the employee elects to fill a position for which there is no current vacancy, then the University shall determine the position to be filled until such time that there is a vacancy for the desired position.

III. Continued Authorization. Following the initial authorization, the University will retain the discretion to revoke authority of a campus police officer to carry a firearm for any reason, including failure to successfully complete continued training, failure to follow proper procedures, misconduct on or off duty, or any other factor that leads the Chief to question whether it is in the best interest of the community that the officer be armed. In the event that the University revokes a campus police officer's authorization to carry a firearm while on duty, the following will apply.

A. Firearms Training and Screening. Employees who are campus police officers as of February 28, 2005, who fail to successfully complete firearms training and screening in accordance with the standards and criteria established by the testing agent or agency may exercise one of the following options, otherwise their employment with the University will be terminated.

- 1. Fill a Vacancy. The officer may elect to fill a vacancy in a position of CCO, SO, BG or PT-BG, without a reduction of seniority, and will be required to complete a six month probationary period (CCO only). If the officer fails to successfully complete the probationary period s/he may elect to fill another vacancy or be placed on the re-hire list in accordance with the following, though not for another CCO vacancy.
- 2. Re-Hire List. In the event that no vacancy exists, the employee will be placed on an unpaid leave and their name will be put on a re-hire list for two years to be contacted in the event that a vacancy occurs. If an employee fills a position from the re-hire list s/he will be credited with seniority for prior service and a six month probationary period will be served for the position of CCO, or any position if the employee has been on leave in excess of a six month period. In the event a person is offered and refuses to fill a vacancy, the University's obligation to that person will cease. The employee must place his name on a rehire list for each job classification which s/he wishes to fill. In the event there are subsequent lay-offs in the class(es) of position which the employee is interested in filling, the employee's total unit seniority will be credited towards his right to be rehired.

B. Other Training. Employees who are campus police officers as of February 28, 2005, and who fail to successfully complete ongoing training programs, may exercise the options available in III.A. above. (Officers who are unable to participate in ongoing training as a result of absence due to injury or illness, will be required to successfully

complete said training as soon as is practicable. Under such circumstances the University may choose to either return the officer to full duty; or place the officer in an un-armed position until such time as s/he can participate in the missed training program, but without loss of seniority, salary and benefits.)

C. Without Cause Revocation. Without cause revocation of the authority to carry a firearm is at the discretion of the University and, therefore, is not based on a "just cause" standard. An employee whose authorization is revoked without cause may exercise one of the following options.

- 1. Voluntary termination. The employee may exercise the option of terminating their employment with (i.) 1 month of severance pay plus (ii.) an additional 2 weeks of severance per year of service, calculated to the most recent quarter, up to a maximum of 52 weeks for the total combined severance benefit. Under this option the University will calculate the severance and other entitlements owed to the employee who will have 21 days to exercise the severance option. If the employee exercises this option, severance payments will be made on a weekly basis at the employee's regular rate until exhausted or until such time as the employee starts working in another position at Brown University, whichever comes first. Medical/dental insurance benefits, if continued, must be paid at the regular employee, rate through the period of severance. If the employee opts not to accept a severance package within 21 days the offer will expire and may not be revisited.
- 2. Re-assignment. The employee may elect to be re-assigned to another class of position in the bargaining unit to be determined by the University without loss of seniority, compensation or benefits. If the employee is re-assigned to the job of CCO, the officer will be required to complete a six month probationary period. However, if the employee fails to successfully complete the probationary period (except in circumstances warranting termination under the just cause provisions of the contract) s/he will be re-assigned to another position in the bargaining unit and, in any event, compensation will continue at the rate of a campus police officer (including regular salary increases and benefits) until the employee leaves the position for reasons such as promotion, voluntary transfer, quit or retirement.

D. For Cause Revocation. In the event that revocation of the authority to carry a firearm occurs for cause, the employer/employee relationship may be terminated. "For cause" may include on or off duty misconduct, unsatisfactory performance, or failure to follow

proper procedures. Under this provision, if the matter is submitted to the grievance and arbitration provisions of the contract, the authority of an arbitrator will be strictly limited to the following.

- 1. If, after a review of the facts, the arbitrator determines that there are valid reasons to revoke the authority to carry a firearm, the decision to terminate cannot be disturbed.
- 2. If, after a review of the facts, the arbitrator determines that no misconduct, unsatisfactory performance, failure to follow procedures, etc., has occurred, or that the infractions were of a kind and level which make the decision to revoke authority without cause, the only remedy may be to order or permit the exercise of the options contained under the without cause revocation language above, and to order other appropriate discipline and back pay and benefits less interim earnings if appropriate.

E. Nothing contained herein will be construed to permit an arbitrator to disturb the University's decision to revoke an officer's authority to carry a firearm.

IV. Disciplinary Proceedings. When a disciplinary proceeding is initiated under Article XXVI of the Contract, and where there is question of improper use or handling of a firearm, or a question of judgment of an officer vested with the authority to carry a firearm, the Chief may invoke the without cause revocation process above pending the outcome of the disciplinary process. Nothing contained herein will preclude the Chief from placing an employee on administrative leave with pay pending the outcome of a disciplinary matter.

Agreed to on this 27th day of April, 2005.

For the Union: For the University:

Karen L Burks Mark J. Porter Louise M. McLaughlin Emil Fioravanti

Steven M. Rotondo

SIDE LETTER OF AGREEMENT

Brown University and BUSPA hereby agree to the following:

- 1. The Department will utilize a new Public Safety Officer designation to describe Security Officers who may be assigned to perform the duties of both the Security Officer and Communication Control Officer positions.
- 2. The Department shall fully train Security Officers who are designated as Public Safety Officers with respect to both the duties and responsibilities of the current Security Officer and Communication Control Officer positions.
- 3. Upon the execution of this Agreement, the following bargaining unit members agree to volunteer to be designated as Public Safety Officers upon the execution of this Agreement:

Mark Perry

- 4. On July 1 of each year, all Public Safety Officers shall receive a lump sum bonus of \$250 dollars less federal and state taxes. On January 1 of each year, all Public Safety Officers shall receive a lump sum bonus of \$250 dollars less federal and state taxes.
- 5. Following the execution of this Agreement, any current Security Officer (not listed in paragraph 3) may volunteer to be designated as a Public Safety Officer. The effective date for such designations shall be either April 1 or October 1. Those Security Officers designated as Public Safety Officers shall receive a one (1) time lump sum signing bonus of \$750 dollars less federal and state taxes. For the purpose of this paragraph, the term "current Security Officer" shall be defined as any individual serving in the Security Officer classification as of July 1, 2016. This section only applies to those current Security Officers who become Public Safety Officers on July 1, 2016 or thereafter.
- 6. The lump sum bonuses included in paragraph 4 and 5 above shall not be included in the officers' base wage rate for any purpose, including, but not limited to calculating overtime pay rates and retirement contributions.
- 7. The Department shall designate all Security Officers who are hired following the execution of this Agreement (including CCO who transfer to SO positions) as Public Safety Officers.

- 8. The bargaining unit members named in paragraph 3 above shall be allowed to opt out of their designation as Public Safety Officers as the Department hires new Public Safety Officers on a one-for-one basis.
- 9. The Department shall assign Public Safety Officers as well as the Supervisor of the Communication Control Center during their regularly scheduled work hours to perform the duties of a Communication Control Officer at its sole discretion including to backfill Communication Control Officer absences to avoid overtime.
- 10. At such times when ten (10) or more active bargaining unit members are designated as Public Safety officers (volunteers or new hires), the Department will not utilize the Supervisor of the Communication Control Center to backfill absences to avoid overtime the Supervisor shall continue to be utilized to fill-in for breaks and reliefs.
- 11. The Department agrees to assign each Public Safety Officer to perform the duties of a Communications Control Officer a minimum of sixteen (16) hours per month to maintain their skill level.
- 12. The Department reserves the right to train and utilize non-bargaining unit members to perform the duties and responsibilities of Communication Control Officers. The Department shall not utilize non-bargaining unit members other than the Supervisor of the Communication Control Center to circumvent communications center overtime and/or reduce the number of Communication Control Officers and/or Public Safety Officers.
- 13. Communications center overtime shall be distributed/assigned in the following manner:
 - Communication Control Officers will be given the first opportunity to volunteer for overtime;
 - Public Safety Officers will be given the second opportunity to volunteer for overtime;
 - If no Communication Control Officer(s) or Public Safety Officer(s) volunteers for overtime, the Chief may utilize non-bargaining unit members to perform such work; and
 - If no non-bargaining unit member is available to perform such work, the Chief may order the Communication Control Officer(s) with the least overtime hours worked to perform the overtime shift(s) in question.

- 14. The Chief reserves the right to rescind a Security Officer's designation as a Public Safety Officer provided that his decision to do so is not arbitrary, capricious and/or unreasonable.
- 15. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a minimum staffing requirement, a guarantee to offer overtime and/or a guarantee that the department must designate any Security Officers as Public Safety Officers. Instead, the parties agree that the Chief shall retain the sole discretion to make such determinations except as expressly provided herein.

For the University: For BUSPA:

Paul S. Mancini Justin Pace

Date: August 3, 2016